MULTI-GENE REGULATION USING DNA-ORIGAMI-AuNPs NANOSTRUCTURES IN BREAST CANCER CELLS

by Cansu Ümran Tunç

Submitted to Graduate School of Natural and Applied Sciences in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Biotechnology

Yeditepe University 2019

MULTI-GENE REGULATION USING DNA-ORIGAMI-AUNPS NANOSTRUCTURES IN BREAST CANCER CELLS

APPROVED BY:

Prof. Dr. Mustafa Çulha (Thesis Supervisor)

Prof. Dr. Bahattin Koç

Prof. Dr. Bahattin Yalçın

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Ömer Faruk Bayrak

Assist. Prof. Dr. Ayşegül Kuşkucu

Dedicated to my son May you never stop learning...

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my supervisor Prof. Dr. Mustafa Çulha for the opportunity of studying in his laboratory and for supporting me with his suggestions through my thesis. He provides lots of time for progression of his students, is always available for scientific discussions and he is excited about seeing our ideas in front of him, which enormously motivated me. I am more than grateful for all the valuable advices and conversations not only about science but also about life throughout my PhD period. All of them will be in my mind all the time.

I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Bahattin Koç and Assoc. Prof. Ömer Faruk Bayrak for their evaluations and suggestions during my thesis monitoring meetings.

I would like to thank Assist. Prof. Ayşegül Çınar Kuşkucu for their support at my hard times.

I would like to thank Pınar Akkuş Süt for helping me whenever I needed. We worked together for our project and she was more than a lab partner for me. I appreciate for all the great time we spent together.

I would like to thank Mine Altunbek, Deniz Yaşar Öztaş, Deniz Uzunoğlu, Ayşe Çınkılıç and all my group members for exchanging ideas.

I would like to acknowledge financial support of TUBITAK during my PhD education.

Finally, I would like to thank my husband Selman Tunç without whom this thesis would not be possible. I would like to thank my dear family for their support. And I would like to thank my little man İshak Bulut Tunç for the happiness and the value he brought to my life.

ABSTRACT

MULTI-GENE REGULATION USING DNA-ORIGAMI-AUNPS NANOSTRUCTURES IN BREAST CANCER CELLS

Gene regulation is a novel approach to cure a gene related disease. Thus, there is an ongoing effort to increase the efficiency of gene delivery. In this thesis, we developed a DNA based nanostructure to deliver gene regulation elements for the up-regulated genes in breast cancer as alternative to the currently used non-viral delivery systems. A tile shaped DNA origami nanostructure is constructed by including morpholino antisense oligonucleotides targeting the HER2, ERa, EGFR, and Ki-67 genes. Then, the sticky ends of the DNA origami nanostructures were hybridized to the complementary oligonucleotide sequence attached to gold nanoparticles (AuNPs) to enhance their cellular uptake. The constructed nanostructure was characterized using agarose gel electrophoresis, AFM, DLS and UV/Vis spectroscopy. Following the stability and toxicity analysis of the structure, the nanocarrier system was used for silencing of the mentioned genes in their overexpressing breast cancer cell lines. It was found that the antisense oligonucleotide embedded DNA origami-AuNPs structure was highly effective for inducing single and multiple-gene silencing in breast cancer cells. The prepared nanocarrier inhibited the expression of target genes approximately 50 per cent at 30 nM morpholino concentration. For multi-gene silencing, more than one morpholino oligos targeting different genes were embedded into DNA nanocarrier and the silencing efficiency increased to about 80 per cent by synergistic effect. After silencing of the target genes alone and in combination, the effects of the gene regulation on breast cancer cell proliferation and cell cycle phase distributions were investigated. It was showed that gene silencing using DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures inhibited proliferation of the breast cancer cells and altered their cell cycle phase distributions. Silencing efficiency of DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures was compared with commercial transfection agents and found to be more effective. Furthermore, DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures did not affect viability of cancer and healthy cells, while the tested commercial systems were highly toxic. The proposed novel nanostructure provides an effective and biocompatible carrier for gene silencing studies.

ÖZET

DNA-ORIGAMI-AUNPS NANOYAPILARI KULLANILARAK MEME KANSERI HÜCRELERINDE ÇOKLU GEN ANLATIMININ DÜZENLENMESI

Gen anlatımının düzenlenmesi, genetik temelli olan hastalıkların tedavisinde özgün bir yol olarak görülmektedir. Bu sebeple gen taşınması ve düzenlenmesinin verimini artırmak amacıyla yoğun olarak çalışmalar yürütülmektedir. Bu tez çalışmasında hâlihazırda var olan taşıma sistemlerine alternatif olarak morfolino antisens oligonükleotidlerinin gömülü olduğu DNA tabanlı bir nanoyapı oluşturulmuştur. Karo şeklinde taşarlanan DNA origami yapısı hazırlanarak hücre içi alımı artırmak amacıyla altın nanopartiküller ile modifiye edilmiş ve meme kanseri hücrelerinde oldukça yüksek anlatımı bulunan HER2, ERa, EGFR ve Ki-67 genlerinin baskılanmasında kullanılmıştır. Hazırlanan yapı agaroz jel elektroforezi, AFM, DLS ve UV/Vis spekroskopi teknikleri kullanılarak karakterize edilmiştir. Stabilite ve toksisite analizlerinin ardından nano yapı bahsi geçen genlerin bu genler bakımından yüksek anlatıma sahip olan meme kanseri hücre hatlarında susturulması amacı ile kullanılmıştır. Morfolino gömülü DNA origami-AuNPs nanoyapılarının tekli ve çoklu gen susturmada etkin yapılar oldukları belilenmiştir. 30 nM morfolino konsantrasyonunda hedef gen anlatımını yüzde 50 oranında baskıladığı gösterilmiştir. Çoklu gen susturma çalışmaları kapsamında birden fazla morfolino oligosu yapıya gömülmüş ve gen susturma veriminin sinerjitik etki ile yüzde 80'e yükseldiği belirlenmiştir. Hedef genlerin tekli ve çoklu düzenlenmesinin ardından gen susturmanın kanser hücre çoğalması ve hücre döngüsü fazları üzerindeki etkileri araştırılmıştır. DNA origami-AuNPs kullanılarak gerçekleştirilen gen susturmanın kanser hücre çoğalmasını baskıladığı ve hücre döngüsünde farklılıklara yol açtığı belirlenmiştir. DNA origami-AuNPs nanoyapılarının susturma verimliliği ticari transfeksiyon ajanlarının verimlilikleri ile kıyaslanmış ve hazırlanan yapının daha etkili olduğu gösterilmiştir. Diğer yandan DNA origami-AuNPs nanoyapıları kanserli ve sağlıklı hücreler üzerinde herhangi bir toksik etki göstermezken test edilen ticari ajanların hücre canlılıklarını etkiledikleri görülmüştür. Hazırlanan nanoyapının gen düzenlenmesi çalışmaları için etkili ve biyouyumlu bir taşıyıcı system olduğu görülmektedir.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
ABSTRACT	v
ÖZET	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	x
LIST OF TABLES	xvi
LIST OF SYMBOLS/ABBREVIATIONS	xvii
	1
	1
2. THEORETICAL BACKROUND	4
2.1. Deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA)	4
2.2. DNA NANOTECHNOLOGY	6
2.2.1. Preparation of DNA Based Nanostructures	13
2.2.2. Applications of DNA Nanotechnology	14
2.3. GOLD NANOPARTICLES (AuNPs)	25
2.4. INHIBITION OF GENE EXPRESSION	25
2.4.1. Antisense Oligonucleotides	26
2.4.1.1. Morpholinos	
2.4.2. Delivery of Oligonucleotides	30
2.4.2.1. Nanotechnology For Gene Delivery	
2.4.2.1.1. Liposomes	
2.4.2.1.2. Inorganic Nanoparticle Based Delivery Systems	
2.4.2.2. Commercially Available Transfection Reagents	40
2.4.2.2.1. Lipid Based Transfection Reagents	
2.4.2.2.2. Polymer Based Transfection Reagents	
2.5. BREAST CANCER	44
2.5.1. Human Epidermal Growth Factor Type 2 (HER2)	47
2.5.2. Ki-67	48
2.5.3. Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor (EGFR)	48
2.5.4. Estrogen Receptor Alpha (ERα)	49
2.6. AIM OF THE STUDY	50

3.	MATE	RIALS AND METHODS	51
	3.1. CH	EMICALS AND MATERIALS	51
	3.1.1.	Cell Lines and Cell Culture	51
2	3.2. ME	THODS	52
	3.2.1.	Preparation of DNA Origami Nanostructures	52
	3.2.2.	Characterization of DNA Origami Nanostructures	55
	3.2.2.	1. Agaose Gel Electrophoresis	55
	3.2.2.	2. AFM Analysis	55
	3.2.3.	Preparation of DNA Origami-AuNPs Nanostructures	56
	3.2.3.	1. Synthesis of AuNPs	56
	3.2.3.	2. Functionalization of AuNPs	56
	3.2.3.	3. Modification of DNA Origami Nanostructures with AuNPs	56
	3.2.4.	Characterization of DNA Origami-AuNPs Nanostructures	57
	3.2.4.	1. UV/Vis Spectroscopy	57
	3.2.4.	2. Dynamic Light Scattering (DLS)	58
	3.2.5.3.	Determination of Stability of DNA Origami-AuNPs Nanostructures	58
	3.2.6.	Determination of Cytotixicity of DNA Origami-AuNPs Nanostructures	58
	3.2.7.	Cellular Internalization and Localization of DNA Origami-Au	NPs
	Nanostr	uctures	58
	3.2.8.	Gene Silencing Studies	59
	3.2.9.	Inhibition of Cancer Cell Proliferation	60
	3.2.10.	Determination of Cell Cycle Phase Distributions	61
	3.2.11.	Determination of Apoptosis	61
4.	RESUL	TS	63
2	4.1. Pre	paration and Characterization of DNA Origami Nanostructures	63
	4.1.1.	Construction of Morpholino Embedded DNA Origami Nanostructures	63
	4.1.2.	Characterization of the Morpholino Embedded DNA Origami Structures .	65
	4.1.2.	1. Agaose Gel Electrophoresis	65
	4.1.2.	2. AFM Analysis	67
2	4.2. Pre	paretion of DNA origami-AUNPs nanostructures	69
	4.2.1.	Stability Analysis of DNA Origami-AuNPs Nanostructures	71
Z	4.3. CE	LL CULTURE EXPERIMENTS	72

75 76
76
82
85
88
94
96
99
103
106

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1. Structure of DNA5
Figure 2.2. Development of DNA nanotechnology and evolutionary DNA nanostructures.6
Figure 2.3. Folding of scaffold chain with staple chains during origami formation
Figure 2.4. The creation of 01101 barcode DNA lattice by Yan et al. and DNA octahedron formation by Shih et al
Figure 2.5. The DNA origami approach and images of the structures created with scaffolded DNA origami
Figure 2.6. The single-stranded DNA tile and brick assembly diagram and AFM images of the structures created with this method
Figure 2.7. DNA nanoconstructs formed with nanoparticle templating
Figure 2.8. Nanoparticle based 3D DNA nanostructures13
Figure 2.9. Preparation ways of DNA origami constructs. Multi-Stranded, scaffolded and single-stranded origami approach
Figure 2.10. The first arrangement studies of the nanoparticles carried out by Mirkin and Alivisatos using AuNPs
Figure 2.11. Assembly of nanomaterials by DNA origami approach16
Figure 2.12. Interactions of DNA nanoconstructs with lipid and polymer molecules17

Figure 2.13. Examples of the DNA-directed arrangement of DNA-functionalized liposomes
Figure 2.14. The arrangement of membrane proteins and enzymes using DNA19
Figure 2.15. Types of DNA nanostructures used for delivery applications and their cargos
Figure 2.16. Docorubicin delivery with different DNA origami structures
Figure 2.17. The cellular entry of DNA-aptamers and endocytic pathways for the aptamer- cargoes
Figure 2.18. Preparation of DNA tetrahedral nanoparticles
Figure 2.19. RGDS peptide modified DNA nanotubes and differentiation of neural stem cells into neurons
Figure 2.20. Types of gene silencing oligos
Figure 2.21. Mechanism of antisense oligonucleotides
Figure 2.22. Morpholino chain containing non-ionic phosphorodiamidate intersubunit linkages and 6-membered morpholine ring instead of deoxyribose ring
Figure 2.23. Target mRNA location of morpholino oligonucleotides
Figure 2.24. The mostly used liposomes in gene delivery
Figure 2.25. Interaction of liposome with nucleic acid molecules and formation of lipoplex and Intracellular uptake mechanism of lipoplex

Figure 2.26. The most commonly used cationic polymer structures in gene delivery43
Figure 2.27. Structure of female breast, ductal carcinoma, lobular carcinoma45
Figure 2.28. Estimated number of new cases in 2018 for females in all ages
Figure 3.1. Preparation of DNA origami nanostructures and their modification with oligo- AuNPs
Figure 4.1. Structure of DNA origami64
Figure 4.2. Agarose gel electrophoresis of increasing number of complementary oligonucleotides forming DNA origami
Figure 4.3. DNA origami nanostructures with and without morpholino
Figure 4.4. AFM image of droplet area belong to suspension containing DNA origami (2 x $2 \ \mu m^2$)
Figure 4.5. AFM image of droplet area belong to suspension containing DNA origami (2x2 μm^2)
Figure 4.6. AFM image of droplet area belong to suspension containing DNA origami (600 x 600 nm2)
Figure 4.7. UV/Vis spectra of colloidal suspension of 13 nm AuNPs, Oligo-AuNPs, and DNA origami-AuNPs
Figure 4.8. DLS spectra of AuNPs, Oligo-AuNPs, and DNA origami-AuNPs71
Figure 4.9. Agarose gel electrophoresis image of DNA origami incubated in PBS71

Figure	4.10.	Agarose	gel	electrophoresis	image	of	DNA	origamis	incubated	in	cell
mediun	n		•••••								72

Figure 4.20. Changes in Ki-67 expression in MDA-MB-231 cells and EGFR expression in BT-474 cells after silencing using liposome and DNA origami-AuNPs at 30nM

morpholino concentration
Figure 4.21. Effect of silencing of HER2 gene on proliferation of BT-474 cells
Figure 4.22. Effect of silencing of ERα gene on proliferation of MCF7 cells84
Figure 4.23. Effect of silencing of Ki-67 gene on proliferation of MDA-MB-231 cells85
Figure 4.24. Cell cycle phase distributions of BT-474 cells
Figure 4.25. Cell cycle phase distributions of MCF7 cells
Figure 4.26. Cell cycle phase distributions of MDA-MB-231 cells
Figure 4.27 Expression level of cyclin B1 protein in BT-474 and MCF7 cells after silencing of HER2 and ERa genes, respectively
Figure 4.28. DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures used for multi-gene regulation studies.89
Figure 4.29. Protein expression levels of HER2 and ERα in BT-474 and MCF7 cells, respectively90
Figure 4.30. Expression levels of EGFR and Ki-67 genes in BT-474 cells after multi-gene regulation
Figure 4.31 Expression levels of EGFR gene after silencing of 1, 2 and 3 different genes simultaneously
Figure 4.32. Viability of BT-474 cells after multi-regulation of Ki-67 ve EGFR genes93
Figure 4.33. Proliferation rates of BT-474 cells treated with 1, 2, 3, and 4 morpholino embedded DNA origami-AuNPs

Figure 4.34. Cell cycle phase distributions of BT-474 cells after silencing of EGFR and Ki-
67 genes
Figure 4.35. Effect of multi-gene silencing on cell cycle phase distributions of BT-474 cells
Figure 4.36. Apoptosis analysis of BT-474 cells after silencing of HER2 and ERα genes alone and simultaneously96
Figure 4.37. Apoptosis analysis of BT-474 cells after silencing of EGFR and Ki-67 genes alone and simultaneously
Figure 4.38. Apoptosis rates of BT-474 cells after simultaneous silencing of EGFR, Ki-67, ERα and HER2 genes
Figure 4.39. Expression levels of ERα ve HER2 proteins after gene silencing using DNA origami-AuNPs, XFect and FuGene delivery systems100
Figure 4.40. Viability of BT-474 cells treated with liposomal delivery system DreamFect Gold
Figure 4.41. Viability of BT-474 cells treated with non-liposomal lipid based delivery system FuGene
Figure 4.42. Viability of BT-474 cells treated with polymer based transfection system XFect

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1. Lipid-based drugs for gene silencing in clinical trials 35
Table 3.1. Primer sequences used for DNA origami construction 53
Table 3.2. Reference sequence numbers of target mRNA in GenBank and target sequences of each morpholino oligonucleotide
Table 3.3. Primer numbers used for DNA origami construction
Table 4.1. Expression levels of HER2, EGFR, Ki-67, and ERα genes in MDA_MB_231,MCF-7 and BT-474 cell lines

LIST OF SYMBOLS/ABBREVIATIONS

mg	milligram
ml	milliliter
nm	nanometer
2D	2 Dimensional
3D	3 Dimensional
А	Adenine
AFM	Atomic force microscopy
AuNPs	Gold nanoparticles
C	Cytosine
DLS	Dynamic light scattering
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
ELISA plate reader	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay plate reader
ERα	Estrogen receptor alpha
ERα G	Estrogen receptor alpha Guanine
ERα G G ₀	Estrogen receptor alpha Guanine Gap 0
$ER\alpha$ G G_0 G_1	Estrogen receptor alpha Guanine Gap 0 Gap 1
$ER\alpha$ G G_0 G_1 G_2	Estrogen receptor alpha Guanine Gap 0 Gap 1 Gap 2
ERα G G ₀ G ₁ G ₂ GAPDH	Estrogen receptor alpha Guanine Gap 0 Gap 1 Gap 2 Glyseraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase
ERα G G ₀ G ₁ G ₂ GAPDH HER2	Estrogen receptor alpha Guanine Gap 0 Gap 1 Gap 2 Glyseraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase Human epidermal growth factor receptor II
ERα G G ₀ G ₁ G ₂ GAPDH HER2 M	Estrogen receptor alpha Guanine Gap 0 Gap 1 Gap 2 Glyseraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase Human epidermal growth factor receptor II Mitosis phase
ERα G G ₀ G ₁ G ₂ GAPDH HER2 M M1	Estrogen receptor alpha Guanine Gap 0 Gap 1 Gap 2 Glyseraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase Human epidermal growth factor receptor II Mitosis phase 1 Morpholino embedded DNA origami-AuNPs
ERα G G ₀ G ₁ G ₂ GAPDH HER2 M M1 M1	Estrogen receptor alpha Guanine Gap 0 Gap 1 Gap 2 Glyseraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase Human epidermal growth factor receptor II Mitosis phase 1 Morpholino embedded DNA origami-AuNPs 2 Morpholinos embedded DNA origami-AuNPs
ERα G G ₀ G ₁ G ₂ GAPDH HER2 M M1 M1 M2 M3	Estrogen receptor alpha Guanine Gap 0 Gap 1 Gap 2 Glyseraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase Human epidermal growth factor receptor II Mitosis phase 1 Morpholino embedded DNA origami-AuNPs 2 Morpholinos embedded DNA origami-AuNPs
ERα G G G G G C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	Estrogen receptor alpha Guanine Gap 0 Gap 1 Gap 2 Glyseraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase Human epidermal growth factor receptor II Mitosis phase 1 Morpholino embedded DNA origami-AuNPs 2 Morpholinos embedded DNA origami-AuNPs 4 Morpholinos embedded DNA origami-AuNPs
ERα G G G G G C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	Estrogen receptor alpha Guanine Gap 0 Gap 1 Gap 2 Glyseraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase Human epidermal growth factor receptor II Mitosis phase 1 Morpholino embedded DNA origami-AuNPs 2 Morpholinos embedded DNA origami-AuNPs 3 Morpholinos embedded DNA origami-AuNPs 4 Morpholinos embedded DNA origami-AuNPs
 ERα G G₀ G₁ G₂ GAPDH HER2 M M1 M2 M3 M4 NA PAGE 	Estrogen receptor alpha Guanine Gap 0 Gap 1 Gap 2 Glyseraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase Human epidermal growth factor receptor II Mitosis phase 1 Morpholino embedded DNA origami-AuNPs 2 Morpholinos embedded DNA origami-AuNPs 3 Morpholinos embedded DNA origami-AuNPs 4 Morpholinos embedded DNA origami-AuNPs Nucleic acid Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis

PI	Propidium iodine				
RNA	Ribonucleic acid				
RNAi	RNA interference				
S	Synthesis phase				
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulfate				
Т	Thymine				
TAE/Mg ²⁺	Trizma base-acetic acid-ethylenediaminetetraacet	tic			
	acid/magnesium acetate				
TBS	Tris-buffered saline				
TBS-T	Tris-buffered saline, 0.1 per cent Tween 20				
UTR	Untranslated region				
UV/Vis spectroscopy	Ultraviolet/Visible spectroscopy				
WST-1	4-[3-(4-iodophenyl)-2-(4-nitrophenyl)-2H-5-tetrazolio]-1,3-				
	benzene disulfonate				

1. INTRODUCTION

Biomacromolecules such as oligonucleotides and peptides as building blocks of living systems are sought to use constructing novel nanostructures for solution of variety of problems in medicine. The use of oligonucleotides to prepare well-defined nanostructures utilizing Watson-Crick base paring was proposed over two decades ago [1, 2]. Since then, the concept has evolved into an exciting field demonstrating the preparation of several novel 2D and 3D structures in a wide range of applications including delivery, sensing, imaging, assembly, and immunostimulation [3-9]. Gene and drug delivery studies using DNA origami were successfully also demonstrated *in vitro* and *in vivo* [10-16].

Transfection methods for gene regulation were widely investigated after the discovery of RNAi, which allows silencing of specific genes [17]. The DNA nanotechnology concept has showed promising results for the transfection of siRNA and antisense oligonucleotides by embedding them into DNA based structures. For example, phosphorothioate antisense oligonucleotides were incorporated into triangular prism shaped DNA cages by stapling oligonucleotides complementary to the antisense oligonucleotides via hybridization [14]. 3D DNA cages were generated folding of three unmodified DNA strands, which have single stranded regions complementary to antisense oligonucleotides. This simple strategy allowed incorporation of 1, 2, 4, or 6 antisense oligonucleotides into the DNA cages. Then, the whole structure was delivered into Hela cells using liposomes for silencing of luciferase expression. In another study, one dimensional periodic DNA structures called nanoribbons were constructed and their surface was modified with siRNA for targeting survivin mRNA in human ovarian cancer cells [15]. Product of rolling circle amplification used as scaffold and this long strand had periodic repeats so that it could be folded by using the same staple strands set. By folding of the scaffold and three small oligonucleotides, nanoribbon structures were generated. The DNA nanoribbons had SPDPmodified strands and thiol modified siRNAs were conjugated to those SPDP-modified staple strands through thiol exchange. The siRNA conjugated nanoribbons were successfully silenced the survivin expression. In vivo gene silencing using DNA nanostructures were also reported [16]. Prism shaped tetrahedral DNA nanostructures modified with three folate molecules were used for in vivo siRNA delivery. The tetrahedral DNA nanoparticles were formed by assembling of six complementary DNA strands, which

have complementary overhangs at the 3' ends providing siRNA binding. DNA nanoparticles were designed with nicks in the middle of oligonucleotides where the 5' and 3' ends of sequences meet at each edge. Using externally labeled DNA nanoparticles with siRNA and folate, longer blood circulation time and efficient knockdown of GFP and luciferase genes were achieved.

In order to increase target specificity and affinity in gene regulation studies, oligonucleotide backbone is modified with certain chemical groups to generate synthetic antisense oligonucleotides. These oligonucleotides include morpholinos, methylphosphonates, phosphorothioate NAs, peptide NAs, and a number of others [18]. Morpholino, an antisense oligonucleotide synthesized by linking morpholine rings through phosphorodiamidates as a substitute of phosphate groups, is preferred in silencing studies since it resists to enzyme digestion and has high sequence specificity [19]. These antisense oligonucleotides show high stability in biological systems. Together with enhanced stability and high specificity, morpholinos overcome many limitations of other antisense agents [20].

Among the non-viral delivery vehicles, cationic polymers [21] and cationic lipids [22] are more widely used for siRNA delivery. Positively charged groups of the cationic delivery vehicles naturally interact with negative phosphate backbone of NAs electrostatically [23, 24]. Since morpholino antisense oligonucleotides do not carry charge, their packing with positively charged carriers may not be efficient [25]. However, DNA nanotechnology approach allows to incorporation of any type of artificial oligonucleotides into DNA based nanostructure through complementary base pairing.

Since the cellular uptake of negatively charged species is highly restricted, DNA tiles are not effectively uptaken by cells. Thus, we incorporated the AuNPs with an average size of 13 nm into the DNA origami structure due to the fact that oligonucleotide coated AuNPs are effectively uptaken by cells [26]. The AuNPs coated with oligonucleotides complementary to the sticky ends of the origami hybridized to the three sticky ends of the origami. Note that the safety and biocompatibility of oligonucleotide coated AuNPs was studied and found that they caused no toxic cellular responses [27].

In this study, the morpholinos were specifically designed to regulate human breast cancer genes HER2, ER α , Ki-67, and EGFR. In the proof of concept experiments, each

morpholino antisense oligonucleotide was embedded into DNA origami-AuNPs carriers separately and also in combination. Expressions of the mammalian genes were successfully inhibited individually and simultaneously in human cancer cells. First, the effective DNA origami concentration was determined. Then, the transfection of the cells with morpholino embedded DNA origami-AuNPs was studied by evaluating the expression of targeted genes. The effects of single and multiple gene silencing on cellular proliferation and cell cycle were also investigated. The efficacy of DNA origami-AuNPs were compared to a cationic lipid based commercial carrier, non-liposomal lipid based carrier, and a polymer based agent. The results showed that DNA origami-AuNPs more effectively downregulated the genes. The nanostructure was able to transfer at higher antisense concentrations at which all the commercial carriers were toxic.

2. THEORETICAL BACKROUND

2.1. DEOXYRIBONUCLEIC ACID (DNA)

Nucleic acids were discovered by a physician Friedrich Miescher in 1868. He isolated the new compound from nuclei of white blood cells, which today is known as deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) [28]. In biology: DNA contains the information required for development, maintenance and reproduction of an organism. Each cell in the organism contains this information and transmits to daughter cells. Nucleic acids are biomacromolecules consist of smaller units called nucleotides. The nucleotides contain a sugar moiety, a phosphate group and a nitrogenous base (Figure 2.1a). There are 4 types of bases; A, T, G, and C. Combination of the order of these letters determines the instructions of DNA; in other words; genetic code. The whole genetic data is written with this 4-letter-alphabet. The nucleotides form long chains by phosphodiester linkage between their sugar and phosphate moieties, which is called a DNA strand (Figure 2.1b). The phospahe backbone of DNA provides negative charge to the molecule.

The molecular shape of DNA was revealed by Francis Crick and James Watson in 1953 [29]. Two antiparallel DNA chains are linked through hydrogen bonding between bases (Figure 2.1c) and form DNA helix (Figure 2.1d). This hydrogen bonding between the bases of nucleotides are called Whatson-Crick base pairing. The only types of base pairing are G-C and A-T. C always pairs with G and A always pairs with T, which assures transfer of exact same DNA to new cells in cell division. The structure of DNA defined more than sixty years ago and this characteristic ladder like helical shape became one of the most famous icons.



Figure 2.1. Structure of DNA. (a) Subunits of DNA molecule, (b) Single DNA strand, (c) double stranded DNA consists of base pairs, (d) double helix [29].

After discovery of this biomacromolecule and determination of its function as genetic material, DNA has been center of researchers' interest in biology. However, for the last 3 decades, we have been utilizing DNA as building material in the field of nanotechnology.

Another interesting application area of DNA is digital data storage [30-32]. Together with the growing digital technologies, need for storage of data is greater than before and DNA became a suitable material due to its dense structure and long half-life [31].

2.2. DNA NANOTECHNOLOGY

DNA is a hereditary material that is responsible for the preservation of genetic information in all organisms. Besides the genetic information it carries, its programmability, structural stability and self-assemling properties make DNA attractive for different applications. The development of functional and dynamic structures using the properties of DNA and the use of these structures in many different fields such as medicine, biotechnology and computation has provided the rising and development of DNA nanotechnology concept which is a sub-branch of nanotechnology. Development of DNA nanotechnology and the selected evolutionary DNA nanostructures are shown in Figure 2.2.



Figure 2.2. Development of DNA nanotechnology and evolutionary DNA nanostructures

Hybridization of nucleic acids is very important in biology. It is essential for many biological processes such as gene silencing, replication, transcription and translation, which are crucial for transmission and expression of genetic information. DNA molecule has been in the limelight of scientists as it encodes the genetic information. However, DNA nanotechnology utilizes DNA as a building material of any desired shaped 2D and 3D architectures. This branch of nanotechnology uses DNA hybridization to assemble DNA into specific arrangements rather than using its biological properties. DNA nanotechnology is an interdisciplinary branch of nanotechnology with collobration of biology, chemistry, computational and material sciences. This technology allows formation of well-defined nanostructures with controlled size and shape by DNA hybridization, which depend on the sequence of DNA strands and highly selective. Using specific base-pairing of complementary DNA bases, many unique DNA constructs are prepared [34]. The formation of various structures in nanoscale using DNA molecules has created structural DNA nanotechnology and this technology has become a rapidly growing research field. The transformation predispositions of the synthesized DNA structures which are produced with this approach, into multifunctional structures make the DNA origami approach important.

In 1980s, the studies of Seeman et al, before Rothemund introduced his DNA origami approach, was the first examples of this approach which has not yet been named [35]. Seeman was inspired by a byproduct occurs during genetic recombination; the four-armed "Holliday junction" and from this point; Seeman demonstrated that different DNA patterns could be prepared using different DNA motifs such as double crossovers. It has been shown that the double crossover motifs have the required rigidity and stability to create a controlled geometry and connection [36].

In later studies, double-crossover structures were utilized in the formation of 2D DNA crystal structures [36]. Double crossover tile motifs were followed by the use of different DNA motifs, such as the triple crossover, which were interconnected by chain exchange [37]. The building blocks, called DNA tiles, consist of double crossover molecules with sticky ends and can grow independently to form 2D crystal structures such as lattices. 2D DNA tile lattices assembly by hybridization of sticky ends of one DNA tile structure with sticky ends of other DNA tiles particularly [38]. The lattices were used for assembly of other materials such as ligand - protein assembly or AuNPs arrays [39, 40].

The first DNA nanomechanical device was developed in 1999, taking advantage of the rigidity of the double crossover motifs [41]. DNA tile has the simple shape, which any desired sequence can easily incorporated into the structure for silencing studies and cost effective with the decreased number of oligonucleotides. Until 1998, design of numerous 2D and 3D DNA structures have been carried out by researchers [42]. Within that period, it has been shown that DNA-based structures can be an active part of molecular machinery.

In 2006, P. Rothemund brought a new dimension to DNA nanotechnology with his new study [2]. In this study, Rothemund showed that the long viral single-stranded DNA molecule (scaffold chain) could be folded over itself to form a structure as desired. He performed this with the help of short helper chains (staple strands) that brought together certain parts of the scaffold chain. The use of staple strands without purification simplifies the assembly formation. The folding of scaffold chain with staple chains during origami formation schematized in Figure 2.3 [43].



Figure 2.3. Folding of scaffold chain with staple chains during origami formation [43].

Rothemund named his approach as DNA origami inspired by the origami of Japanese paper folding. It can be said that Rothemund could be inspired by the works of Yan et al. and Shih et al. (Figure 2.4) and the studies shed light on Rothemund before revealing the concept of DNA origami [44, 45].



Figure 2.4. (a) The creation of 01101 barcode DNA lattice by Yan et al. and (b) DNA octahedron formation by Shih et al. [44, 45].

The first use of the scaffold chain, which can be folded on itself, in the structural DNA technology, was described in the study of Yan et al. The first use of the scaffold chain, which can be folded on itself, in the structural DNA technology was described in the study of Yan et al [44]. Yan et al used the scaffold chain to make barcode array. In the later study, Shih et al. created the octahedron structure using the scaffold chain and five helper chains [45]. Rothemund most likely developed the DNA origami approach, inspired by the works of Yan et al and Shih et al.

Later on, Rothemund reported the formation of many complex regular and irregular 2D structures with DNA origami approach (Figure 2.5). America map and smiley face are the most famous among these structures [2].



Figure 2.5. (a) The DNA origami approach and (b) images of the structures created scaffolded DNA origami [2].

Recently, brick assembly or single-stranded tile approach, which is similar to DNA origami but not requiring long scaffold chain, has been also reported [46]. In this approach called as brick assembly or single-stranded tile, the computer-aided design of the structures is realized and the construction of the target structure is constructed by the use of hundreds of single-stranded DNAs that form interconnected duplexes. In Figure 2.6, The single-stranded DNA tile or Brick assembly diagram and AFM images of the structures created with this method are shown [46].



Figure 2.6. (a) The single-stranded DNA tile and brick assembly diagram and (b) AFM images of the structures created with this method [46].

Apart from utilizing only base pairing, there are also 2D and 3D DNA nanostructures generated by using metallic nanoparticle based templates [47]. The most important feature of this approach, which is termed as particle-templated DNA construction, is that the role that DNA plays in sequence-specific interactions is different from the rigid scaffold role played by nanoparticles to create the desired structures efficiently. In Figure 2.7, examples of the nanoparticle-templated DNA nanoconstructs are shown.



Figure 2.7. DNA nanoconstructs formed with nanoparticle templating [48-51].

In the formation of nanoparticle-templated structures, ionic or metallic bonds, which form the crystalline cage of the inorganic core structure, have replaced the use of DNA hybridization or the use of different motifs. In this case, unlike the approaches based on hybridization for structure formation many challenging structural requirements can be ignored as an advantage when functionalizing the inorganic scaffold material with an intense oligonucleotide ligand layer. The rigidity of the inorganic part and the intense and directed orientation of the oligonucleotides are sufficient for the formation of directional DNA bonds [33]. Surface of spherical nanoparticles were modified with appropriate DNA sequences and these nanoparticles were used to prepare 3D DNA nanostructures via DNA hybridization. In Figure 2.8, 3D cubical nanostructures are shown prepared by assembling AuNPs by thiol modified oligonucleotides.



Figure 2.8. Nanoparticle based 3D DNA nanostructures [33].

2.2.1. Preparation of DNA Based Nanostructures

Introduction of DNA origami approach by Rothemund is a significant milestone in DNA nanotechnology. It has been reported that recently, nucleic acids have been used in the formation of nanoscale complex shapes and devices extensively using DNA origami approach. Different preparation methods have been used in the actualization of these studies. There are three types of DNA origami structure preparation strategies including multi-stranded, scaffolded, and single-stranded approaches [52, 53]. These strategies are schematized in Figure 2.9.

In multi-stranded strategy, short complementary oligonucleotides are used for the formation of desired shaped DNA origami structures [52]. This strategy has the disadvantages of being inefficient. Also it strongly depends on critical concentrations of oligonucleotides, needs extra purification steps, and is limited with simple geometric shapes [52]. Single-stranded and scaffolded origami approaches are more suitable than the multi-stranded approach for the synthesis of complex and large DNA constructs.

In the scaffolded approach, a number of helper oligonucleotides bind to the long, scaffold DNA to construct an origami structure [2]. Excessive use of helper chains eliminates the problem of concentration equalization of oligonucleotides. Being efficient, making the preparation duration shorter, possibility of formation of complex geometries and lack of necessity of extra purification steps make the scaffolded approach favorable [2, 53].

In single-stranded approach, it has been utilized from the folding capability of biological molecules [54]. Using these features, compact and well-defined structures can be formed by using a single DNA chain.



Figure 2.9. Preparation ways of DNA origami constructs. (a) Multi-Stranded, (b) scaffolded and (c) single-stranded origami approach [52, 53].

Design tools such as computer-aided software and programs are utilized for the precise and well-defined creation of DNA structures independent of the selected preparation method [55-58]. With the help of such design tools, it is possible to reduce and prevent any kind of errors that may occur in the desired structure by preventing the unwanted base interactions. CADNAno is the most widely used DNA origami design program by researchers in this sense [59].

Furthermore, wide variety of DNA nano objects were prepared by using other approaches such as sticky-ended cohesion, which allows formation of larger structures by hybridization of 2 different sticky-end containing motifs, or tile-based construction of 2D DNA lattices and preparation of DNA bricks using single stranded DNA tiles [60]. By using DNA bricks like legos, the highest complexity was achieved [61]. A recent strategy was reported to assembly of DNA nanotube by using a long DNA, which was prepared with an enzymatic approach called temporal growth [62].

2.2.2. Applications of DNA Nanotechnology

The assembly of different molecules including organic or inorganic structures is the most well-known and widespread applications of the DNA nanotechnology. The first onedimensional AuNP regulation was reported in 1996 [63]. This arrangement was accomplished by functionalizing AuNPs with a single DNA chain. One of the first studies on the arrangement of nanoparticles is also the work reported by Mirkin [64]. This study is the first example of the development of DNA nanoparticle hybrid materials that can be useful in terms of optical, electronic and structural properties and contains the controlled organization of AuNPs. The first arrangement studies of the nanoparticles performed by Mirkin and Alivisatos using AuNPs are shown in Figure 2.10.



Figure 2.10. The first arrangement studies of the nanoparticles carried out (a) by Mirkin and (b) by Alivisatos using AuNPs [63, 64].

In subsequent studies, different sizes of AuNPs were assembled according to the checkerboard model using DNA tile structure and then 3D tetrahedral AuNP arrangements were reported in literature [7, 65-67]. As shown in Figure 2.11, apart from the gold nanoparticles, Also arrangement of silver nanoparticles (AgNPs) and single-walled carbon nanotubes was provided by DNA origami approach.



Figure 2.11. Assembly of nanomaterials by DNA origami approach. Arrangement of (a) AuNPs (b), AgNPs (c), single-walled carbon nanotubes, and (d) reciprocal placement of AuNP electrodes [7, 65-67].

DNA origami constructs are used to arrange the inorganic nanomaterials and metals for their activity in optical, electronic and sensor applications. Since the optical and electronic properties of inorganic materials are influenced by the geometrical arrangement of these materials, the arrangement of these materials to obtain the desired function or property is very important. In this sense, the use of DNA origami-based structures is being studied extensively [68].

There are also studies including utilization of DNA constructs in the organization of structures such as polymers, lipids, liposomes, and proteins (Figure 2.12) [69-73]. The combination of DNA molecules and polymers enables the DNA structure to achieve a new structure with properties that can be used for different applications [68]. It has also been reported that molecules such as lipid chains and cholesterol direct their assembly properties with DNA scaffold structures.



Figure 2.12. Interactions of DNA nanoconstructs with lipid and polymer molecules. (a) The arrangement of DNA–polymer structures forming spherical micelles [70], (b) DNA cage structures modified with hydrophobic polymers [71, 73], and (c) Reactangle DNA origami structure combined with cholesterol molecules [72].

DNA-directed regulation of liposomes is also studied extensively [74-82]. The fusion of liposomes including fusogenic lipid molecules [77, 79, 80, 83, 84], formation of twodimensional liposomal structures [74, 78, 84] can be carried out using DNA hybridization. The examples of the DNA-directed arrangement of DNA-functionalized liposomes are shown in Figure 2.13.



Figure 2.13. Examples of the DNA-directed arrangement of DNA-functionalized liposomes. (a) The size-controlled vesicle formation by nanotemplating and (b) liposome assembly formation with hybridization [85, 86].

DNA nanotechnology has been shown to be an effective strategy for the elucidation of protein structures, protein-protein relationships. At the same time, studies including the controlled regulation of proteins have been reported extensively [69]. Structures formed by DNA origami approach are utilized as templates for the regulation of protein molecules. DNA template structure was used to assemble dimer and trimer membrane proteins on lipid bilayer nanodiscs. In that study, it has been reported that the formation of such a structure is more difficult when the DNA template is not used and the formation percentage of this arrangement is lower [87]. Using DNA nanotechnology to study the
behavior of motor proteins and arrangement of the enzyme structures on DNA templates are the other studies, which performed using DNA hybridization [88]. In Figure 2.14, The arrangement of membrane proteins and enzymes using DNA hybridization is shown.



Figure 2.14. The arrangement of (a) membrane proteins [87] and (b) enzymes [88] using DNA.

For effective treatment of diseases, it is essential for increased efficiency of therapeutic agents and decreased side effects. To that end, well designed delivery vehicles, which effectively carry and release the agents to the target site are necessary. Most of the carrier systems generate biological responses like generation of immune response, effecting gene expression, causing oxidative stress, or toxicity. The biocompatibility is one of the major issues for disease treatment in clinical studies. Biomacromolecular structures, which are naturally present in cells, are thought to be solution of biocompatibility problems. From this viewpoint, DNA has started to come into prominence as a building block of a delivery vehicle.

Fate of the drug carrier in the organism is determined by many factors such as size and shape of the structure, molecule and position of the drug and other ligands on the vehicle. Therefore, nanostructures prepared using DNA origami approach has gained importance for the improvement of delivery systems. In Figure 2.15, Types of DNA nanostructures used for delivery applications and their cargos are shown.



Figure 2.15. Types of DNA nanostructures used for delivery applications and their cargos [60].

Successful *in vivo* and *in vitro* applications of carrier systems, which are generated using DNA origami structures, are reported in the literature [10-12]. DNA wireframe cage structures have been reported to have more cellular penetration than single and double-

stranded DNA constructs without a transfection agent. This feature increases the use of cage structure as a drug carrier structure.

The use of DNA nano-constructs in the delivery of cancer drugs, which can intercalate into the DNA structure, to cancer cells is quite common [10]. In the literature, DNA origami structures, which are designed in different shapes such as triangular, square, tube and tetrahedron have been reported for their use in delivery of chemotherapy drug doxorubicin to cancer cells. In these studies, the internalization of more drugs into the cell with the use of DNA origami structure designed in the form of triangles has shown that the shape of the carrier system is an important factor to be considered in the drug carrier design to obtain a maximum therapeutic effect.



Figure 2.16. Docorubicin delivery with different DNA origami structures. The studies of the triangle, tube and square shaped DNA origamis (a) *in vitro*, (b) *in vivo*, and (c) DNA tetrahedron structure in doxorubicin delivery.

Moreover, the functionalization of the prepared structures with targeting molecules makes them capable of targeting cancer cells. It was reported that when the doxorubicin intercalated DNA cage structures were functionalized with MUC-1 aptamers, functionalized DNA structure targeted to MUC-1 cancer cells [89]. The cellular entry of MUC-1 aptamer modified DNA structure and possible internalization pathway for this structure is shown in Figure 2.17.



Figure 2.17. (a) The cellular entry of DNA-aptamers and (b) endocytic pathways for the aptamer-cargoes [89].

The DNA tetrahedron structure, functionalized with folate molecules and carrying siRNA, has been reported to be successful for gene silencing application *in vivo* without a transfection agent [90].



Figure 2.18. Preparation of DNA tetrahedral nanoparticles [90].

In the regenerative medicine and tissue engineering applications, DNA nanostructures allow for the placement of differentiation and growth factors. Thus, suitable media for predesigned tissue growth can be obtained [91]. It has been reported that the DNA nanotube structures functionalized using the RGD peptide increase the transformation of neural stem cells (Figure 2.19) [92].



Figure 2.19. RGDS peptide modified DNA nanotubes and neural stem cell differentiation [92].

2.3. GOLD NANOPARTICLES (AuNPS)

There are few nanoparticles that have had the attention of researchers as much as gold nanoparticles (AuNPs). Its physicochemical properties such as scattering and absorption of light in visible region of the spectrum make AuNPs popular in medical applications; imaging, therapeutics, and diagnostics. AuNPs is used as agent in imaging applications including X-ray, fluorescence, photoacoustic, optical imaging and surface enhance Raman spectroscopy [93-95]. Inert nature of gold core makes AuNPs biocompatible and nontoxic. Also easy surface modifications make drug loading, ligand binding or coating possible for targeting therapies [96]. Surface of gold nanoparticles stably interact with thiol (SH) groups and can be easily modified through Au-thiol bond [97]. Without any targeting ligands, AuNPs can accumulate in tumor by long circulation and penetration to tumor vasculature [98]. With the benefits of accumulation in tumor, AuNPs are widely used as drug carriers. Drugs such as doxorubicin, cisplatin, and capecitabine can be bound to gold nanoparticle surfaces non-covalently [99]. In addition to drug delivery, biomacromolecules like proteins, DNA, and RNA are potential cargos of AuNPs [100].

Due to their many features such as non-toxic and inert nature, high cellular internalization and easy modification, AuNPs are suitable nanoparticles and have been widely utilized as gene and drug carriers [101-104].

2.4. INHIBITION OF GENE EXPRESSION

Silencing of a specific gene is a widely studied research area that holds promise for therapy of diseases. Inhibition of a disease related genes besides being an alternative of traditional treatments; improves the efficiency when combined with them. Gene silencing has the potential of contribution to genome based personalized treatment strategies or gene function studies. Post-transcriptional inhibition of gene expression comprises RNA interference (RNAi) and antisense oligonucleotides. RNAi refers double stranded small RNAs including small interfering RNA (siRNA) [105]. Both RNAi and antisense oligonucleotides have the same mechanism of action. A nucleotide sequence binds to its target mRNA sequence through hybridization and provides the degradation of the mRNA or blocking binding of proteins, which are necessary for translation. RNAi is a double

stranded oligonucleotide and when it couples with RNA-induces silencing complex (RISC), it becomes single stranded. RNAi is always connected with a complementary sequence or a partner protein, while an antisense oligonucleotide always acts and stay as single strand. Their blind sides and strong sides originate from this difference [106].

2.4.1. Antisense Oligonucleotides

Development of antisense oligonucleotides dates late 1960s [107-110]. Inhibition of pathogen replication with antisense mechanism using sentetic oligonucletides was reported by Zamecnik and Stephensen in 1978 [108]. This and following studies showed that gene specific silencing was a promising therapeutic application.

Gene silencing agents should be highly specific for their target sequence and avoid offtarget effect. Target selectivity indicates binding of antisence oligonucleotide to only its target sequence selectively, which prevent non-spesific inhibition of cellular proteins. Offtarget effect of antisense oligos is derived from interactions of antisense oligos with intracellular, surface and extra cellular proteins [111]. To obtain increased stability in biological systems and target specificity, different types of antisense oligos were developed with different chemistries rather than using miRNA and siRNA molecules. Mostly used antisense oligonucleotides and their structures are shown in Figure 2.20.



Figure 2.20. Types of gene silencing oligos [111].

Oligonucleotides are about 13-25 nucleotides long, single stranded, modified or unmodified DNA sequences, which are designed to hybridize only their target within the cells containing many other DNA molecules. Antisense oligonucleotides are powerful tools for gene silencing and widely used as therapeutic agents or in gene function studies. After development of antisense oligonucleotides for therapy, oligonucleotides has been approved by Food and Drug Administration as therapeutic agents and the first commercial antisense oligonucleotide, Vitravene, has taken place on the market [112]. And many antisense oligonucleotides are at different clinical development phases [113]. Progressions in the understanding the fundamental principle of silencing mechanism, low cost of synthetic oligonucleotides, and knowledge about sequence of human genome make the antisense technology to be widespread in laboratory and clinic.

Although how the oligonucleotides act in cell is complex and is not fully understood, basic principle of mechanism of action includes two types of antisense oligonucleotides: first class is RNase-dependent oligonucleotides and second class of oligonucleotides are steric-blokers. As shown in Figure 2.21, RNase-dependent antisense oligonucleotides cause

mRNA degradation, while steric-blockers prevent translation by inhibiting the binding of translational factors or splicers to mRNA [18].





The most of the antisense drugs are RNase H-dependent oligonucleotides. RNase H is an enzyme carries on degradation of RNA/DNA duplex. RNase H enzyme-dependent gene silencing mechanism shows high efficiency of inhibition of expression up to 80-95 per cent. Moreover, RNase H-based oligonucleotides inhibit the expression of mRNA when they bind any region of the target sequence, while steric-blockers work only when they bind start codon of target mRNA [114]. On the other hand, steric blockers, morpholinos and peptide nucleic acids (PNAs) are the widely used oligonucleotides in this class, are highly stable, easy to synthesize, and have high affinity binding to nucleic acids due to lack of steric inhibition caused by negative charge. They can form stable complexes with DNA or RNA.

2.4.1.1. Morpholinos

Living organisms contain a lot of genes and the function of many of the encoding genes remains unknown. Clarifying of function of these genes is important to understand the genome. Phosphorodiamidate morpholino oligonucleotides provide researchers to identify the gene function on whole-genome scale by silencing studies [115]. RNAi has been effectively used for determination of function but this approach inapplicable for large-scale studies [116]. In mammals, the use of RNAi structures has been associated with non-specific effects by activating some pathways, which cause non-specific inhibition of expression [117]. Also siRNAs may generate immune response and have off-target effect [118]. The specificity of silencing tools and biological response are important for predictable and trustworthy outcomes of studies. Synthetic antisense oligonucleotides have been preferred and studied commonly for silencing. For the minimization of toxicity, and increasing the target specificity and affinity, certain chemistries were applied on antisense oligonucleotides backbone [119].

Morpholinos are nuclease digestion resistant and water soluble synthetic DNAs, which contains neutral charged phosphorodiamidate inter-subunit linkages and 6-membered morpholine ring (Figure 2.22). The backbone structure of morpholino provides nuclease resistance and effective binding to complementary sequence, especially for RNA [19]. And water solubility of morpholino is one of the bright sides. It is essential for accession to the target in the cytoplasm. Structural properties of morpholino oligonucleotides provides quite advantages.



Figure 2.22. Morpholino chain containing non-ionic phosphorodiamidate intersubunit linkages and 6-membered morpholine ring instead of deoxyribose ring.

Together with enhanced stability, relatively low cost, and easy synthesis, morpholino oligonucleotides overcome many limitations of conventional antisense tools and provide a rapid and effective method for gene silencing experiments [120]. Morpholino antisense

reagents can modulate gene regulation with different ways depend on the oligonucleotide sequences; they can inhibit the initiation of translation or block mRNA splicing to modify mRNA maturation [18]. They inhibit gene expression whether in the presence of RNase H or not. Morpholino mechanism relies on the inhibition of translation. They target the complementary sequence in the cell by Watson-Crick base pairing. As shown in Figure 2.23, morpholinos block mRNA slicing; target sequences of antisense oligonucleotide are specific junctions or prevent ribosomal assembly; antisense oligonucleotide binds to 5'-untranslated region (5'-UTR) of gene transcript. The mRNA position, where the morpholino hybridizes, determines the mechanism of action. Both mechanisms inhibit formation of a functional protein [121].



Figure 2.23. Target mRNA location of morpholino oligonucleotides. (a) Target position of morpholino, which blocks the ribosomal assembly. The morpholino sequence targets the 5'-UTR of mRNA including AUG start codon and (b) mRNA binding sides of morpholino that blocks splicing. The antisense oligonucleotide binds less than 10 bases of exon sequences [122].

2.4.2. Delivery of Oligonucleotides

To fulfill their biological activity, antisense oligonucleotides must be able to enter the cell compartments, where their target sequence is expressed or acts in. antisense oligonucleotides and RNAi are promising tools for regulation of gene expression for therapeutic purposes and also there are ongoing clinical trials [123]. Oligonucleotides, in almost all cases, can enter the cell by endocytosis. It is a general term of a variety of entrance pathways. Understanding the mechanism of endocytosis is important for effective

enter to site of action. For reaching the site, some targeting ligands and cell penetrating peptides are used. Beyond the cellular level, biological barriers are important for *in vivo* studies [124].

Although gene regulation is a powerful strategy, there have been problems; maybe the most important one is gaining entry to the nucleus or cytoplasm, where they are acted in the cell. Cationic delivery agents are used in *in vitro* studies. Liposomes [22] and cationic polymer nanoparticles [125] have been used for delivery but these cationic polymers or lipids may be disputable for *in vivo* because of their large size and toxicity [126]. There are other polymeric particles as nanocarrier of oligonucleotides for various cells [127]. But it should be taken in consideration that all of the delivery vehicles have their own biological effects on gene expression. Other traditional ways for introduction of DNA into cells like electroporation or microinjection have disadvantages of being limited with *in vitro* studies and they can transfect limited number of cells [128].

2.4.2.1. Nanotechnology for Gene Delivery

RNAi is a primitive immunity of cells against to the exogenous genetic materials in biological systems. After the discovery of RNAi, synthetic nucleic acids were produced for gene silencing. The ability of modulating gene regulation led many studies about treatment of gene related diseases such as cancer and infectious diseases. To overcome the limitations of RNAi, many antisense oligonucleotides with high sequence specificity were developed. The major problems of the silencing tools are poor bioavailability and short half life in biological fluids. The oligonucleotides are barely uptaken by cells and the negligible amount of them can escape from endosomes. Nanotechnological approaches were developed for delivery of oligonucleotides using non-viral systems. The viral systems are efficient but cause immune response and unpredictable toxicity so that they are involved in safety issues. Here, liposomes and inorganic nanoparticle based systems were discussed as non-viral delivery vehicles.

2.4.2.1.1. Liposomes

Among the variety of non viral delivery systems, liposomes draw great interest from researchers for delivery of nucleic acids and are well-established for drug delivery [129]. The biocompatible nature and enhanced cellular permeation make the liposomes convenient for delivery studies [130]. Together with all the advantages they have, lipid structures provide rational design of novel carrier compounds.

Basically cationic transfection lipid structures consist of a hydrophobic domain, a linker, and a cationic head group [131]. The hydrophobic domain consists of carbon chains or steroids. The head group derived from various moieties such as polyamines and quaternary ammonium groups. Also amino acids can be head domain of a liposome. While there are various hydrophilic head groups, nitrogen based domains are the most widely used motifs [132]. The linkers are also variable and the most common linkers include glycerol, ethers, esters, and amides. All this chemical nature of the liposomes affects the biodegradability, stability, flexibility, and transfecion efficiency of the structure.

There are many commercial lipid based agents for delivery of nucleic acid molecules. Most frequently used liposomes including N-[1-(2,3-dioleyloxy)propyl]-N,N,Ntrimethylammonium chloride (DOTMA), Dioleoylphosphatidylethanolamine (DOPE) dioctadecylamidoglycylspermine (DOGS), 3β [N-(N_,N_-dimethylaminoethane)carbamovl] cholesterol (DC-Chol), [1,2-bis(oleoyloxy)-3-(trimethylammonio) propane] ethyl]-N,N-dimethyl-l-(DOTAP), and 2,3-dioleyloxy-N-[2(sperminecarboxamido) propanaminium trifluoroacetate (DOSPA) are shown in Figure 2.24 [133]. All the commonly used and well established liposomes for nucleic acid delivery have distinctive structures, which effects their stability, toxicity, and transfection efficiency.



Figure 2.24. The mostly used lipids in gene delivery [133].

Cationic lipids naturally interact with polyanionic molecules such as DNA and RNA. The cationic lipid structures form complexes through interaction of positive groups of lipids with negatively charged phosphate backbone of NA molecules [131]. Lipid – DNA complexes are called as lipoplex. The overall positive charge of lipoplex complex enables the adsorption of the complex onto cells, which have glycoproteins and glycolipids provide negatively charged surface. Evidence indicates that cationic liposomes deliver their nucleic acid cargos through clathrin-mediated endocytosis pathway rather than cell membrane fusion [134, 135]. The formation of liposome-DNA complex and intracellular uptake of the complex are shown in Figure 2.25. The polyanionic nucleic acid structures interacted with cationic head groups of liposomes electrostatically resulted with the attachment of DNA or RNA to the liposomes. The strength of the interaction increases proportionally number of the positive groups of liposome. Lipofection occurs through endosomal internalization.



Figure 2.25. (a) Interaction of liposome with nucleic acid molecules and formation of lipoplex and (b) intracellular uptake mechanism of lipoplex.

Liposomes are extensively investigated and most efficient non-viral delivery systems. However, liposomes involve toxicological concerns. The use of liposomes effects cell viability due to the interaction of these cationic structures to intracellular anionic lipids such as cardiolipin, which is a mitochondrial membrane lipid, so that metabolic pathways of the cell can be negatively influenced by these interactions [136]. Also transfection efficiency is effected by a number of parameters such as size of the liposomes [137].

Gene silencing studies using liposomes were demonstrated *in vitro* and *in vivo* [138-142]. Palliser *et al.* reported that delivery of virus targeted siRNAs prevented viral infection in animal models [138]. siRNAs were designed and delivered using liposomes by local administration for targeting herpes simplex virus 2 genes. Intra-vaginal application of siRNA-liposome complex targeted UL27 gene encoding a virus envelop glycoprotein, and UL29, which is a DNA binding protein gene, protected mice from infection without causing any undesirable immune response. Rather than local administration, gene silencing were achieved also by systemic delivery of siRNA-liposome complexes [139]. Sorensen *et al.* showed that green fluorescence protein (GFP) expression was silenced in spleen and liver following intravenous injection of the lipoplexes in GFP expressing adult mice. In another study, galactosylated liposomes were utilized for targeted delivery of siRNA to liver cells by intravenous administration in mice [143]. The galactosylated liposome

siRNA complexes effectively inhibited Ubc13 gene expression in liver. Moreover, galaycosylated liposome-siRNA complex did not cause any liver toxicity.

Many studies using different liposome formulations were promoted to clinical phases [144]. RNAi-lipid nanoparticles have been assessed in clinical trials for a variation of cancer diseases such as myeloma, lymphoma, and leukemia. Lipid-based gene silencing drugs have been also exploited for diseases other than cancer in clinic such as hepatitis B, hepatic fibrosis, and transthyretin-mediated amyloidosis. The clinical studies based on RNAi-lipid therapeutics were shown in Table 2.1.

Tangat gana	Therapeutic	Disease	ClinicalTrials.gov
Target gene			ID (phase)
PLK1	siRNA-liposomes	Hepatocellular carcinoma	NCT02191878 (Ph I/II)
BCL2	Lipid nanoparticles encapsulating a	Lymphomas	NCT02378038 (Ph II)
	single stranded DNAi		NCT02226965 (Ph II)
			NCT01733238 (Ph II)
EphA2	siRNA-liposome	Solid tumors	NCT01591356 (Ph I)
Grb-2	Neutral liposomes encapsulating antisense oligo	Leukemias	NCT01159028 (Ph I)
NYC	DsiRNA-lipid nanoparticles	Lymphoma, hepatocellular	NCT02110563 (Ph I)
		carcinoma solid tumors, multiple myeloma, or	NCT02314052 (Ph I/II)
PKN3	AtuRNAi-liposomes	Pancreatic cancer	NCT01808638 (Ph I/II)
HSP47	Vitamin A-siRNA lipid nanoparticle conjugate	Hepatic fibrosis	NCT02227459 (Ph I)
Target three sites	Lipid particle containing three RNAi	Hepatitis B	NCT02631096 (Ph II)
on the HBV	therapeutics		
genome			
Disease-causing	RNAi-Lipid nanoparticles	Transthyretin-mediated	NCT02510261 (Ph III)
TTR		amyloidosis	NCT01961921 (Ph II)
			NCT01960348 (Ph III)

Table 2.1. Lipid-based drugs for gene silencing in clinical trials [144].

2.4.2.1.2. Inorganic Nanoparticle Based Delivery Systems

Gene silencing is a powerful technology for altering of gene expression in diseased cells. However, there are some obstacles to overcome for being a serious clinical practice rather than laboratory research. The primary problem of nucleic acid therapeutics is enterance to target cells both in vitro and in vivo. Depends on the administration, the nucleic acid cargo should pass through many biological barriers and exposed to nuclease degradation in biological fluids. They may also stimulate immune system in living organisms and vulnerable to be eliminated from the body. Beyond reaching to the target side in the organism, the nucleic acid molecules cannot penetrate cell membrane because of their negative charge. Therefore, delivery vehicles, which carry the nucleic acids to target cells and provide both protection from undesirable degradation and elimination and penetration into cells are needed. There have been developed many strategies for nucleic acid delivery. A number of parameters such as surface chemistry, size and shape determine the success of the delivery vehicles. Over the many delivery structures, nanoparticle-based systems are one of the most promising vehicles. Besides providing delivery and intracellular uptake, nanoparticles offer multi functional systems for the purposes of targeting, labeling, imaging, and control with magnetic field.

Nanoparticles are used in wide variety of applications due to their distinctive chemical and physical properties. They are capable of interacting with biomolecules. Nanoparticles have unique features such as high surface area and reduced size. Surface functionality properties also make them favorable for delivery studies combined with specific targeting.

One of the most popular nanostructures is AuNPs. Another emerging therapeutic potential of AuNPs is intracellular gene regulation. AuNPs have quite advantageous properties such as biocompatibility, easy synthesis in different sizes, and easy modification through interaction with thiol groups. AuNPs can be easily synthesized in small sizes to increase the surface area and maximize the nucleic acid loading onto the surface. Thus they are remarkable candidates for gene delivery. Multifunctional AuNPs platforms were reported for specific and targeted *in vitro* and *in vivo* down-regulation of c-myc protooncogene [103]. The AuNPs surface was modified with thiolated PEG with carboxyl end and thiol-PEG-azide polymers, TAT peptides, RGD peptides, and siRNAs in order to increase the solubility and provide cellular penetration, cell recognition, and gene silencing. siRNAs for

silencing of c-myc gene were loaded onto the surface of AuNPs either covalent and ionic approach. In covalent approach the thiolated siRNAs were attached to the surface of AuNPs using strong thiol:Au binding. In ionic way, the surface of AuNPs was modified with quaternary ammonium groups and the polyanionic siRNAs were attached to the nanostructure through electrostatic interactions. The siRNA loaded vehicles prepared in both covalent and ionic approach were tested on *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies and significant silencing of gene expression was monitored.

In another study, gold nanorods were used for a drug addiction therapy by gene silencing in neurons [104]. Gold nanoshell structures coated with antisense oligonucleotides and siRNAs against green fluorescence protein (GFP) were designed [101, 102]. The siRNA molecules attached to the surface of Au-nanoshel by electrostatic interaction and release of oligonucleotides was triggered by near-IR laser. The NIR radiation induced controlled release of oligonucleotides caused effective silencing of GFP expression. The surface of the Au-nanoshell was modified with a cationic peptide with the sequence of cysteine, tyrosine, Serine, and poly lysine. siRNAs were attached to the surface through electrostatic interaction with positive lysine residue. To monitor the radiation triggered siRNA release, fluorescent labeled oligonucleotides were interacted to the surface and release of oligos was detected after exposure to 800nm laser. The nanostructures were delivered to human lung cells and the radiation controlled treatment resulted in down-regulation of targeted GFP expression.

High dense oligonucleotide coated polyvalent AuNPs were used for gene silencing studies with the properties of resistance to nuclease degradation and increased intracellular uptake in various cell types [145]. Poly-L-lysine (PLL) and siRNA are compexed with AuNPs layer by layer and multi-layered AuNPs were used for gene silencing studies. siRNA was released from AuNPs complex gradually by degradation of PLL and led knockdown of targeted gene [146]. There are also successful examples of AuNPs-polymer conjugates for siRNA delivery studies [147-149].

AuNPs modified with P12 and CGDK peptides were used for receptor mediated intracellular uptake and upregulation of p53 tumor suppressor gene [150]. A study shows that by the modifications of AuNPs with major domains of a transcription factor, AuNPs can act as a transcription factor and regulate gene expression itself [151]. Another gene regulation, silencing, is also studied with AuNPs. Nanoparticles were coated with

complementary oligonucleotides to target mRNA sequences, for down-regulation of a specific gene. Tetrathiol-modified oligonucleotides were bound to 13 nm AuNPs and highly stable and selective oligonucleotide delivery platforms were formed. Although this delivery platform was coated with negatively charged DNA, AuNPs-oligonucleotide conjugates could enter the cells directly while most of the transfection agents need positively charged materials to manage the intracellular uptake [145]. In another study of the group, siRNA-AuNPs conjugates were designed for silencing of firefly luciferase gene. By using polyvalent RNA-nanoparticle conjugates, cellular uptake and specific gene silencing were provided efficiently without any chemical modification. Impressively, the optical and physical properties of AuNPs remain unchanged [152].

One of the other attractive nanoparticles in research is Quantum dots (QDs) for their physicochemical properties. QDs are used as luminescence probes in many applications and have important advantages over organic dyes such as considerable brightness and superior photostability [153]. QDs at different sizes have different emission wavelengths and single light source can excite all the QDs with different size. Rely on the features of QDs, they have part in detection and imaging applications of biology and medicine. Many multifunctional QDs based platforms for targeting, diagnosis, and treatments were developed [27-29]. Both siRNA delivery and cellular imaging were carried out by using polymer encapsulated QDs nanoparticles in breast cancer cells [154]. Yezhelev et al. reported an important study by using a novel nanostructure based on proton-sponge coated QDs for knockdown of cyclophilin b in breast cancer cells. By balancing carboxylic acid and tertiary amine groups on the surface of QDs, proton-sponge effect was constituted and used for silencing of cyclophilin b expression. After delivery of the nanostructure, protonsponge on the surface causes absorption of protons by acidic organelles leading osmotic pressure increase through the organelle membrane. This increase in osmotic pressure provides leak of entrapped materials. The proton-sponge coated siRNA modified QDs were uptaken by cells through endocytosis pathway and siRNAs were released from endosomes due to proton-sponge effect.

Another example of multifunctional studies are using PEGlated QDs complexed with siRNA and tumor targeting molecule for inhibition of enhanced green fluorescence protein and tumor recognition [155]. Specific and efficient gene silencing using QDs

functionalized with siRNA was also reported for maintaining the integrity of blood brain barrier [156].

The idea of controlling the carrier system externally generated the usage of iron oxide nanoparticles (IONs). IONs are non toxic, tunable magnetic nanoparticles. Most of the delivery studies of IONs integrated with imaging or control by magnetic field. Medarova et al. developed a multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles for both siRNA transfer and the monitoring its accumulation in tumor tissue using magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) [157]. Simultaneous siRNA delivery and its accumulation in tumor tissue were showed using the same delivery system at ones. Superparaagnetic nanoparticles were modified with siRNAs, Cy5.5 dye, and membrane translocation peptide for silencing of GFP, nearinfrared in vivo optical imaging, and intracellular uptake, respectively. The dextran coated nanoparticles were labeled with average three Cy5.5 optical dye, four myristoylated poly arginine peptides (MPAP), and five siRNAs per particle. In vivo silencing efficiency of the system was determined using in vivo imaging on bilateral tumor bearing mice. A decrease in GFP-associated fluorescence was observed, while there was no change in RFPassociated fluorescence. The results indicated specific silencing of GFP by magnetic prob. The GFP silencing was confirmed independently by quantitative RT-PCR. The decreased GFP mRNA levels indicated effective in vivo silencing of the system compared to saline and mismatch control.

Delivery of siRNAs was displayed using IONs coated with lipid-like molecules for gene silencing. It is also shown that, the efficiency of nucleic acid delivery was increased by external magnetic field [158].

High surface area, controllable pore size, easy modification, and being non toxic make mesopourus silica nanoparticles (MSNs) one of the mostly used nanoparticles for encapsulation of drugs and other molecules [159]. Delivery of siRNAs against EGFP and Akt genes using MSNs led attenuated expression of the genes in mammalian cells [160]. To deliver siRNAs to PANC-1 cells, the MSNs were functionalized with polyethylene imine and due to the electrostatic interaction of cationic polymer with oligonucleotides; siRNAs were loaded to the nanoparticles. After proving that MSNs can deliver and silenced EGFP gene, an endogenous human gene Akt were targeted and attenuated expression of the gene was monitored in human pancreas cancer cells.

Also simultaneous transport of siRNA and doxorubicin drug using mesoporous silica nanoparticles enhanced the response of drug resistant cancer cells to chemotherapy [161].

Moreover, there are studies using SWCNTs coated with siRNA noncovalently for targeting HIF-1α gene *in vivo* [162]. Both sensing and gene silencing using graphene oxides were reported for hepatitis C virus gene in liver cells [163].

2.4.2.2. Commercially Available Transfection Reagents

Transfection of NAs has been studied extensively due to the growing attention to NAbased therapeutics. Wide range of transfection methods exist in laboratory practices, including physical, chemical and biological methods. Electroporation, calcium phosphate precipitation and viral delivery can be given as examples to these methods. However, it is not always easy to follow a long procedure or obtain many types of chemicals and equipments during the experiments. Furthermore, these methods do not enable large-scale applications. Fortunately, companies provide reagents for easy/rapid transfection of NAs. Commercially available reagents dominate the transfection applications in laboratory practices due to the simplicity of their methods. The most important features of a transfection reagent are to be applicable for many types of cells, having high transfection efficiency-low toxicity, and providing consistent outcomes. One transfection reagent may fulfill all or some of these requirements and it is important to choose the true transfection reagent for each cases.

Viral vectors offer the most efficient delivery but they have safety issues such as provocation of mutagenesis or immune responses and problems such as NA size limitation. Commercially available trasfection reagents have been developed to also overcome these problems. These reagents are mostly lipid-based and polymer-based formulas. In here, the structure and transfection efficiency of the most commonly used commercially available transfection reagents.

2.4.2.2.1. Lipid Based Transfection Reagents

The mechanism of lipid based transfection depends on electrostatic interactions between cationic lipids and negatively charged phosphate backbone of DNA then the DNA-lipid complex is internalized by cells through endocytosis. The earliest synthesized cationic lipid was DOTMA [164]. After introduction of this cationic lipid formulation, many other types

of cationic lipids have been synthesized and become available on market. Lipofectamine, Lipofectin, DreamFect Gold and Fugene are the examples of the mostly studied cationic lipid-based transfection reagents. Lipofectamine, Lipofectine and DreamFect Gold are liposomal transansfection reagents and Fugene is a non-liposomal lipid based system. The formulations of the reagents are different combinations of the cationic lipid structures discussed previously in Figure 2.24 at various ratios. Lipofectin consists of monocationic lipids with the composition of DOTMA/DOPE (1:1 w/w), while Lipofectamine contains polycationic lipid structures [165]. DreamFect Gold and Fugene reagents contain cationic lipids and other components.

Highly efficient transfection of NA molecules using Lipofectin [164, 166, 167] and Lipofectamine [168] was reported in the literature. It was shown that the transfection efficiency of adenovirus was increased after complexing with Lipofectamine in human hematopoietic cells [169]. DreamFect Gold reagent has been widely used for magnetofection experiments [170-172]. Mixture of magnetic nanoparticles and DreamFect Gold was used to obtain magnetic lipoplexes for successful gene delivery to human corneal cells [171]. The reagent was also used for delivery of Foxp1 vector to investigate possible functions of the gene on spinal cord neurons during embryogenesis [173].

All of the transfection systems have been used in many studies for successful gene delivery. However, FuGene seems to be the most efficient among all these reagents. In comparison of the transfection efficiency of nine different cationic lipid-based commercial reagents including lipofectin, lipofectamine and Fugene, Fugene was shown to be slightly more efficient than all in mouse embrio cells. In another study, Fugene provided yet again the most efficient transfection efficiency in Huh-7 cells among five commercial reagents including lipofectamine and lipofectin [174]. However, its success in transfection efficiency was detracted by high cytotoxicity. Fugene was also compared with a wide range of commercial transceftion systems including both cationic lipids and cationic polymers and it was suggested that Fugene was the most effective reagent for a number of cell lines [175]. In another study, condrocyte cells were transfected for luciferase expression using eight different transfection reagents including Lipofectamine, FuGene and DreamFect Gold. DreamFect Gold provided the maximum expression of luciferase but FuGene caused minimum toxicity on cells [176]. On the other hand, lipofectamine was found to be the most effective transfection reagent out of many commercial transfection

systems including cationic lipids and cationic polymers for delivery of EGFP to HUVEC cells, which are tricky to transfect [177].

Each commercial transfection reagent has superior sides to one another depending on cell types, type and the size of the NA cargos and transfection conditions. Mostly the reagents are successful to deliver negatively charged NAs, while their biggest limitation is toxicity [178]. Reseachers have been investigating strategies to increase the transfection efficiency and decrease the toxicity.

2.4.2.2.2. Polymer Based Transfection Reagents

The ease of synthesis and modification of polymers has led to the use of polymers in gene therapy applications. Many of the polymers used in such applications have a net positive charge and can be modified to posses targeting residues. The cationic structure assists the escape of DNA from endosomes during endocytosis by effect of a proton sponge [179, 180]. Size and chain length of a polymer effects its internalization, escape from endosomes, release of DNA cargo, and entry into nucleus [179].

The most commonly used cationic polymers as transfection vectors are poly-L-lysine (PLL), Polyethyleneimine (PEI) and poly(2-*N*,*N*-dimethylaminoethylmethacrylate) (PMA) [181]. Different structures of these polymers exist such as branched, linear or dendrimer-like architectures. There are also copolymers developed for NA transfection [182]. Structures of the mostly used polymers are shown in Figure 2.26.



Figure 2.26. The most commonly used cationic polymer structures in gene delivery [183].

PLL is polymer of L-lysine amino acid, which effectively interacts with negatively charged DNA through amine groups as they are protonated at physiological pH. However, PLL has decreased transfection efficiency as a consequence of limited buffering capacity; they show toxic effect and tend to precipitate [184].

PEI is one of the mostly used cationic polymers in gene delivery applications. It is an inexpensive polymer with long shelf life and has advantages due to its chemical structure, which allows chemical modifications for biochemical applications including gene delivery applications. Their branched and linear forms exist. It has high transfection efficiency. Although their transfection effectiveness are compromised by toxicicity and being non-degradable [185].

PMA is a pH responsive cationic polymer. Being water soluble and protonated under physiological conditions makes it a good candidate as a transfection system [186]. The polymer has also modest toxicity upon cell culture systems [181]. Furthermore, its success on delivering DNA to cytosol through eascape from endosomal entrapment promotes efficiency of PMA in NA transfection applications [187].

Clinical studies of DNA delivery using polymer structures are very limited. There are only a few clinical trials exist in polymer based transfection, which only involves delivery of DNA vaccines [188].

Efficient *in vitro* gene delivery studies were reported in the literature using the most widely prefered commercially available cationic polymer structures: Express Fect [189], JetPEI [190], Xfect [191-193] and an activated-dendrimer reagent Superfect [194]. There are also reagents, which contains both polymers and lipids in their formulation. Arrest-In is an example of liposome-polymer composite structure.

In a study, transfection efficiencies of Express Fect, JetPEI, SuperFect, Arrest-In, FuGene and Lipofectamine were compared in nine different cell lines. The findings showed that FuGene was effective on the majority of tested cell lines and Arrest-In and JetPEI followed it [175]. In another study, a number of polymer based commercial reagents including TransIT-TKO, TransIT-siQUEST, X-tremeGENE, Xfect and Nanofectin were compared in terms of gene silencing efficiency in mouse embryonic stem cells [195]. The maximum inhibition rate in Oct3/4 gene obtained with TransIT reagents and X-tremeGENE system with 80 per cent silencing. Nanofectin fallowed these reagents with 70 per cent efficiency and Xfect induced 50 per cent silencing of the target gene.

The transfection efficiency of a delivery system depends on the cell type, passage number of cells, cell confluency, type of NA, mycoplasma contamination and cell medium conditions. Also size of the NA-transfection reagent complex is very important for systemic delivery to pass through biological barriers. There are many parameters for selection of appropriate transfection reagents to obtain satisfactory results in experiments or successful therapeutic effect.

2.5. BREAST CANCER

Female breast consists of ducts and lobules. About 80 per cent of the cancers initiate in ductal area and the rest occurs in lobules [196]. In Figure 2.27, normal female breast and formation of ductal and lobular carcinomas are shown. Transformation of normal breast tissue to cancer can be induced by some factors such as environmental and genetic factors. Today, many people suffer from breast cancer.



Figure 2.27. (a) Structure of female breast, (b) ductal carcinoma, and (c) lobular carcinoma [196].

According to the Globocan 2018 data of International Agency for Research on Cancer, breast cancer remains the most common cancer type in females worldwide (Figure 2.28a) [197]. Also in Turkey, the mostly diagnosed malignancy in women is breast cancer (Figure 2.28b); one of the every four women, who were diagnosed with cancer, was suffering from breast cancer. Approximately 17.000 women were diagnosed with breast cancer in single year in the country according to the statistics of ministry of health [198].



Figure 2.28. Estimated number of new cases in 2018 for females in all ages (a) worldwide,(b) in Turkey, and (c) breast cancer cases in continents [197].

For decades, researchers have developed new treatment strategies targeting the molecules that promote tumor growth and proliferation. Specific targeting of cancer cells has always been the main objective of cancer therapy. The ideal system is thought to reach specifically target side without effecting healthy cells in the body and remove all the side effects of drugs. There is no such system that works 100 per cent efficiently but with the effort of studies, targeting therapies is getting closer to the goal of being more effective than standard cures. For the treatment of breast cancer, therapies targeting the molecules, which is expressed in higher levels in cancer than healthy tissue, has been designed. Especially growth factors; EGFR, ER α and HER2 are included [199].

Through the knowledge has been gained about breast cancer, targeting the genes that have overexpression is promising strategy for cancer therapy. HER2, ER, EGFR, and Ki-67 are the genes that expressed in high levels in breast cancer cells and related with cancer proliferation and growth.

2.5.1. Human Epidermal Growth Factor Type 2 (HER2)

Breast cancer has a number of characteristics in case of expression status of genes like p53, Estrogen and Progesterone receptors, HER2, Ki-67, EGFR and Androgen receptor (AR) [200]. These expression profiles are used as immunohistochemstry (IHC) markers for classification of breast cancer cell lines. It is important to determine the cell lines, which are used in clinical studies according to their subtypes for the outcome of the studies.

The ER, PR, and p53 genotype of the cells and expression level of HER2 is highly related to the cancer disease. 20 to 30 per cent of invasive breast cancers show overexpression of HER2 [201]. In most of the patients, high expression of this gene or higher number of copies indicates decreased survival and differential responses to treatment. So targeting to HER2 (also known as HER2/neu or ErbB2) looks like an important strategy for cancer treatment [202]. Overexpression of this gene becomes a signal, which causes unregulated growth of cells and metastasis, and also resistance to chemotherapy [203]. The underlying mechanism of HER2 in cancer involves complex networks. ErbB2 or HER2, which has extracellular, transmembrane, and intracellular domains, is a member of tyrosine kinase receptor family. It is related with a number of signaling pathways. Presence of HER2 affects the cell cycle through upregulation of D-type cyclins expression; causes reducing of dependence to mitogenic stimulation. HER2 overexpressing breast cancer is very aggressive type with poor prognosis.

A monoclonal antibody drug Trastuzumab (Herceptin), targeting the HER2, is successfully used for treatment but not all cases and development of resistance, which is the most common problem, ends up with failure of treatment [204]. Herceptin treatment combined with chemotherapy is reported to be one of the most helpful treatments that improve patient survival [205]. Polymalic acid-based nanopolymers, which carry both morpholinos against HER2 mRNA and trastuzumab (anti-HER2 antibody), were resulted with simultaneous inhibition of both activation of already existing receptors and new synthesis of her2 receptors, and enhanced apoptisos [206]. In another study, HER2/neu was targeted with short interfering RNA (siRNA) in HER2 overexpressing breast cancer cells and they have observed arrested cell cycle at G0/G1 phases, inhibited proliferation rate, and induced apoptosis [207]. For the examination of silencing of cancer related genes on different cell

types, HER2, cyclin B, and protein kinase C were transfected with siRNA. Results confirmed the previous studies that HER2 silencing leads to cell death [208].

2.5.2. Ki-67

Ki-67 is another gene that has role in identification of breast cancer type. It is seen that this protein has an important role in cell proliferation but function of it could not identified exactly [209]. Targeting Ki-67 for breast cancer therapy is an attractive strategy. By inhibiting the expression of Ki-67 in the breast cancer cells, inhibition of cell proliferation is intended. For this purpose, a various types of breast cancer were transfected with siRNAs targeting Ki-67, decreased cell proliferation and increased controlled cell death were observed [210]. Inhibition of cell growth in renal cancer has also been studied with short hairpin RNAs (shRNA) and the same results were received with breast cancer in both *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies [211].

2.5.3. Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor (EGFR)

EGFR is a receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) family member, which is necessary for cellular growth [212]. When epidermal growth factor binds to the receptor, phosphorylation occurs that allows a series of proteins binding to receptor [213]. A molecular cascade follows the binding of these proteins and ends up with entry to S phase of the cell. EGFR action is related not only cell proliferation but also differentiation and tissue generation [214]. Most of the basal-type breast cancer cases have overexpressed and/or increased copy of EGFR gene [215]. Because of the reason that most of the triple negative breast cancer cases related with EGFR expression, it has been one of the most significant targets for treatment of breast cancer. Recent studies reveal that targeting EGFR increases the sensitivity to chemotherapy of triple negative breast cancer cells so EGFR-targeted strategies might be promising [216].

2.5.4. Estrogen Receptor Alpha (ERα)

Estrogen has an important function in normal sexual development and maintenance the function. It affects also other biological systems like immune or cardiovascular systems [217]. The action of estrogen depends on the estrogen receptors. Estrogen receptors does not act themselves, they have correlation between a numbers of proteins[218]. Estrogen molecule and receptors estrogen are responsible for regulation of breast epithelial proliferation and apoptosis. Their action is related with cellular proliferation, so understanding the mechanism is important to understand the both normal and cancer growth [219]. In 1950s, an estrogen binding protein was discovered, today known as estrogen receptor alpha (ER α) by Elwood Jensen [220]. It is a nuclear protein activated by binding of estrogen. It works as a transcription factor, activates the estrogen-responsive genes and it is thought to be related with breast cancer development and growth [221]. More than half of breast cancers (~ 70 per cent) show over expression of ER α , and high expression of this gene in breast epithelium is being concern as high risk of breast cancer [222].

ER α effects the cell cycle through inhibiting the p53/p21 expression and enhancing the expression of proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) to induce cellular proliferation of breast cancer cells [223]. There are hormonal therapies, like tamoxifen, targeting the inhibition of ER α [224]. Stable transfection of MCF-7 breast cancer cells by siRNA against ER α were carried out to establish an endocrine resistance cell line [225]. It is seen that lock of ER α expression change expression of a lot of apoptosis and cell proliferation related genes, in the mean of both up-regulation and down-regulation. Downregulation of ER α expression by using a vector-based RNAi resulted in considerable decrease in cell division rates of MCF-7 and Bcap-37 cells [226]. And also total inhibition of tumor size was demonstrated following gene silencing in nude mice. Silencing of ER α is not a persistent mechanism so its reversible nature may provide researchers to develop new therapeutic strategies for breast cancer.

2.6. AIM OF THE STUDY

The aim of the study is to prepare DNA origami-AuNPs nano-carriers by embeding morpholino sequences into the structure for the purpose of silencing specific genes, which are highly expressed in breast cancer cells. Morpholino antisense oligonucleotides are effective gene silencing agent with high efficiency and target specificity. However, delivery of the antisense oligos is insufficient due to their neural charge since most of the carriers interact with their cargos through electrostatic interactions. On the other hand, DNA nanostructures are very suitable for delivery of morpholinos as complementary base pairing is the only necessary condition for packing.

It is aimed to incorporate morpholino oligonucleotides into the prepared DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures and to silence spesicif genes alone and simultaneously. Breast cancer cells were used for proof of concept experiments. Four different cancer proliferation genes were selected and morpholinos were designed to target these genes. *In vivo* knockdown effect of gene silencing system was investigated systematically starting from one target gene to four targets. Effects of single and simultaneous silencing of the target genes were determined. And the efficiency of DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures was compared with other carrier systems.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1. CHEMICALS AND MATERIALS

Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM), Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS), Trypsin-EDTA (0.25 per cent) and Ribonuclease A were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (Germany). Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS) and Penicillin-Streptomycin (10,000 U/mL) were purchased from Gibco (UK). WST-1 Assay (Roche Diagnostic GmbH, Germany), Annexin V-FITC-/PI (Calbiochem, Germany) were purchased to monitor viable and death of cells. RIPA buffer was purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (USA). Tissue culture flasks (25 cm², 75 cm²), 12 and 96 well plates, Falcon tubes (15 ml), serological pipettes, were purchased from TPP (Switzerland).

Magnesium acetate was purchased from Applichem (Germany). Ethidium bromide was purchased from Fisher Scientific. Glutaraldeyde, sodium azide (NaN3) and tri-sodium citrate ($C_6H_5Na_3O_7$) were purchased from Merck Millipore (Germany). Chloroauric acid (HauCl₄•3H₂O), trizma base, acetic acid, hydrochloric acid, dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), ethanol, isopropanol and agarose were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Germany). Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid and sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) were purchased from Bio Basic (Canada). Oligonucleotides and morpholino antisense oligonucleotides were purchased from Alpha DNA (Montreal, Canada). EGFR, HER2, GAPDH, Cyclin B1 primary antibodies were purchased from Cell Signaling Technology (USA), Ki-67 antibody was purchased from Santa Cruz (USA). Erα antibody was purchased from Merck Milipore (USA).

3.1.1. Cell Lines and Cell Culture

BT-474, MCF7, and MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cell lines were cultured in DMEM high glucose cell medium supplemented with 10 per cent FBS and 1 per cent PS, MCF-10A cells were cultured with Mammary Epithelial Cell Growth Medium (MEGM) at 37°C under 5 per cent CO2 atmosphere. Trysin-EDTA solution (0.25 per cent) was used to detach cells and PBS solution was used for washing steps. BT-474, MCF7 and MDA-MB-

231 breast cancer cell lines were purchased from the American Type Culture Collection (Manassas, VA, USA), MCF-10A cells were kindly provided by Fikrettin Şahin Lab.

3.2. METHODS

3.2.1. Preparation of DNA Origami Nanostructures

There has been an ongoing effort on designing wide range of carrier systems to provide delivery of therapeutic agents to the target site in order to treat diseases effectively. Most of these systems cause biological responses. Biomacromolecular systems have been solution to this problem. 2D and 3D nanostructures with controlled size and shape have been demonstrated by using DNA as building block through adenine-tymine, guanine-cytocine base pairing [1, 2, 33].

In this thesis, scaffolded DNA approach was used to prepare morpholino embedded DNA origami structures. Helper oligonucleotides, which are complementary to long DNA in different positions, are hybridized to the scaffold chain at their annealing temperature during the temperature decrease. The DNA origami nanostructure was prepared using 9 oligonucleotides including scaffold and morpholinos. The oligonucleotide sequences are shown in Table 3.1. Reference sequence numbers of target mRNAs and their targeted sequences are shown in Table 3.2. The primer numbers of oligonucleotides used for preparation of 1, 2, 3, and 4 morpholinos containing DNA origami nanostructures are shown in Table 3.3. Although all the prepared DNA origami structures had tile shape, the number of morpholinos and the targeted genes differed.

Primer numbers	Oligonükleotide sequences
P1	AGGCACCATCGTAGGAAAATCTGCGTCAGCTCTCCGTACA CCAGTGCTTCCATGCGAAGTAAAACGTTCCGATCACCAAC GGAGTAAAACGATCTAACTGATAACTAGCACCTCTTGCTC ACGTGAGGAGTAAAACTTGCC
P2	TTTAGAAATGTACGGAGAGCTGACGCAGACCTACGATGGA TGGAGCT
Р3	TGAGCACCTGCCTGGCAAGACTCCTCACGTGAGCAGAGGG CAGCGAT
P4	TTCGGGGATGCTAGTTATCAGTTAGATCGACTCCGTTGGTT TTCCAG
Р5	TGTGCTCTTGATCGGAACGACTTCGCATGGAAGCACTGGA TGTGGCC
P6	GTCGCATCGCTGCTCCCCGAAGAGC
P7	TCGTGGGCCACATTTTCTAAACAGT
P8	GCCACCTGGAAAAAGAGCACAGCCC
P9	CCGCCAGCTCCATGGTGCTCACTGC
P10	AAAAAGGCCACATTTTCTAAATTTT
P11	AAAAAGTGCTCACTGCGGCTCTTTT
P12	AAAAAATCGCTGCTCCCCGAATTTT
P13	AAAAACTGGAAAAAGAGCACATTTT

Table 3.1. Primer sequences used for DNA origami construction.

 Table 3.2. Reference sequence numbers of target mRNA in GenBank and target sequences

 of each morpholino oligonucleotide

	Ref. Seq.	Target mRNA sequence	
HER2	NM_004448	gccggagcc [g cagtgagcac c(atg)gagctg gcgg] ccttgt gccg	
EGFR	NM_005228	cggagcga[gc tcttcgggga gcagcg(atg)c gac] cctccgg	
Ki-67	NM_002417	ttatactcaactt [actgtttagaaa(atg)tggcccacga] ga cgcctggtta	
ERa	NM_000125	tcgcctctaa cctc[gggctg tgctcttttt ccaggtggc]c cgccggtttc	

Table 3.3. Primer numbers used for DNA origami construction

M _{EGFR}	P1+P2+P3+P4+P5+P6+P11+P12+P13
M _{Ki-67}	P1+P2+P3+P4+P5+P7+P10+P12+P13
M _{ERα}	P1+P2+P3+P4+P5+P8+P10+P11+P13
M _{HER2}	P1+P2+P3+P4+P5+P9+P10+P11+P12
M2	P1+P2+P3+P4+P5+P6+P7+P12+P13
M3	P1+P2+P3+P4+P5+P6+P7+P8+P13
M4	P1+P2+P3+P4+P5+P6+P7+P8+P9

Four different morpholinos were embedded into DNA origamis separately. DNA origami structures were prepared as explained in our previous study [227]. Briefly, DNA origami structures were constructed using 1 scaffold oligonucleotide and 8 complementary helper oligonucleotides including the morpholino sequences, which are provided in Table 3.1. Equimolar amounts of the oligonucleotides were added in TAE/Mg²⁺ hybridization buffer, which includes 40 mM Tris, 20 mM acetic acid, 2 mM EDTA, and 12.5 mM magnesium
acetate pH 8.0. This mixture was heated to 95°C, and then slowly cooled to room temperature once. No further heating and cooling procedure was applied. DNA origami nanostructures were prepared upon bottom-up strategy by using self organization properties of nucleic acid molecules. The oligonucleotides were denatured at 95°C and cooled very slowly. During the temperature decrease the complementary oligonucleotides connected to the scaffold DNA at their annealing temperature and folded into a tile shaped DNA nanostructure. Firstly the four 47 base long oligonucleotides annealed and then the 25 base long oligonucleotides including morpholino incorporated to the structure by complementary base pairing resulting tile shaped DNA origami with a theoretical size of 28 nm and with 8 sticky ends. These sticky ends were further used for AuNPs modification.

3.2.2. Characterization of DNA Origami Nanostructures

3.2.2.1. Agarose Gel Electrophoresis

Formation of the DNA origami structure was monitored using agarose gel electrophoresis. The oligonucleotides and the whole contructed nanostructures were loaded into the 1 per cent agarose gel, which was prepared in 1X TAE buffer solution, and these samples were run at 90V for 45 min. The gel images were obtained using a gel imaging system (Bio-Rad, USA).

3.2.2.2. AFM analysis

For AFM analysis of DNA origami structures, the 1μ M DNA origami solution was 100 times diluted and 10 μ l of these diluted samples were subjected to freshly cut mica surface and air dried at room temperature. Images were taken using Park System XE AFM at non-contact mode at room temperature and analyzed using the XEI image processing program.

3.2.3. Preparation of DNA Origami-AuNPs Nanostructures

3.2.3.1. Synthesis of AuNPs

The AuNPs with an average size of 13 nm were synthesized with Turkevich method [228]. Briefly, 40 mg of gold chloride (HAuCl₄.3H₂O) was dissolved in 100 ml ddH2O. The prepared solution was heated and stirred until boiling. While heating, 10 ml of 38.8 mM sodium citrate (Na₃C₆H₅O₇) solution, which induces reduction of gold salt, was quickly added into the boiling solution. It was kept boiling for 15 minutes and left to cool at room temperature. The synthesized AuNPs were characterized using UV/Vis spectrometer (Lambda 25, Perkin Elmer) and dynamic light scattering (Nanozetasizer, Malvern).

3.2.3.2. Functionalization of AuNPs

Oligonucleotide modification of AuNPs (Oligo-AuNPs) was carried out according to salt aging method with a few modifications [229]. Briefly, 1 mL of 13 nm AuNPs (400 μ g/mL) was mixed with 0.1 M potassium phosphate buffer at pH 7.4 and 0.125 mL of 0.1 per cent Sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) by bringing the final concentrations at 0.01 M phosphate buffer and 0.01 per cent SDS.

A 5 μ l of 100 μ M 5'-thiol modified 14-mer poly-thymine oligonucleotide (5'-SH-TTTTTTTTTTTTT) was added to the mixture and the final mixture gently mixed for 30 min at room temperature. 0.1 mL of NaCl solution was added from 2M NaCl stock solution at three steps and the final NaCl concentration was brought to 0.15 M. At the every steps of NaCl addition, the suspension was sonicated for 20 seconds and mixed for min. After the third addition of NaCl solution, the suspension containing AuNPs was left shaking overnight. The process was followed by centrifugation of the suspension at 13.000 rpm for 20 min for the removal of excess oligonucleotides. The supernatant was replaced with ddH₂O. The washing step was repeated 3 times and the suspension was stored at 4°C. The suspension of Oligo-AuNPs was taken into 1X PBS before using in the cell culture studies.

3.2.3.3. Modification of DNA Origami Nanostructures with AuNPs

DNA origami structures were modified with AuNPs after their characterization with UV/Vis spectroscopy and DLS analysis. Approximately 5.4×10^{13} oligo-modified AuNPs were added to 1.8×10^{13} DNA origami structure and the mixture was shaked for 24h at room temperature for hybridization of the oligonucleotides with the sticky ends of the DNA origami structures. The preparation and modification of the DNA origami nanostructures are schematically shown in Figure 3.1.



Figure 3.1. Preparation of DNA origami nanostructures and their modification with oligo-AuNPs.

3.2.4. Characterization of DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures

3.2.4.1. UV/Vis Spectroscopy

Absorbance spectra of 1 nM of suspensions containing 13nm AuNPs, oligo-AuNPs and DNA origami-AuNPs were taken using UV/Vis spectrometer (PerkinElmer, USA).

Hydrodynamic sizes of 13 nm AuNPs, oligo-AuNPs and DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures were determined using Nanozetasizer (Malvern Instruments) at 25°C with a 173° scattering angle using 4mW He-Ne laser conditions DLS measurements were repeated three times.

3.2.5. Determination of Stability of DNA Origami-AuNPs Nanostructures

Stability of the prepared nanocarriers were investigated under physiological and cell culture conditions. To that end, DNA origami structures were incubated in PBS and serum containing cell culture medium for different time intervals. After incubations, stability of the DNA constructs was analyzed applying the agarose gel electrophoresis. 1 g agarose dissolved in 100 mL TAE buffer solution. The samples were subjected into the 1 per cent agarose gel and run at 90 V for 1h. The gel images were obtained using a gel imaging system (Bio-Rad, USA).

3.2.6. Determination of Cytotixicity of DNA Origami-AuNPs Nanostructures

Breast cancer cells were treated with morpholino containing and bare DNA origami nanostructures at different concentrations. Cells were seeded into the ELISA reader plate at cellular density of 5.000 cells per well and left for attachment for 24h. The cells were treated with the nanostructures and viability of the cells was determined using WST1 assay.

3.2.7. Cellular Internalization and Localization of DNA Origami-AuNPs Nanostructures

Internalization and localization of the gene silencing nanostructure was determined using confocal microscopy. The primer number P5 was ordered with a 5'-Cy5 modification. For internalization experiments, the dye-modified oligonucleotide was used for construction of the DNA origami structure. Glass cover slips were sterilized with 70 per cent ethanol and

placed in 6-well plates and 100.000 BT-474 cells were seeded in each well. Attached cells were treated with Cy5-labeled DNA origami nanocarriers and incubated for 30 min. The cells were fixed using 2 per cent paraformaldehyde solution for 20 min at +4°C and stained with lysotracker green at room temperature. The samples were washed with PBS 3 times for 5 min and immediately analyzed with confocal microscopy.

3.2.8. Gene Silencing Studies

For gene silencing studies, morpholino oligonucleotides were designed for specific inhibition of HER2, ER α , Ki-67, and EGFR genes and these morpholinos were embedded into DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures separately or in combination. Effectiveness of the prepared gene silencing system was determined on breast cancer cells, which overexpresses the selected genes. Silencing efficiency of the designed nanostructure was evaluated comparatively with commercial transfection systems including cationic liposome, a non-liposomal lipid-base delivery system and a polymeric tranfection reagent. The expression rates of the genes were determined using Western blotting technique, which provides to monitor cellular protein levels.

Breast cancer cells were seeded in 6-well plates at 150.000 cells per well. After the attachment at the end of 24h, the cells were washed with PBS and treated with morpholino embedded DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructres in FBS free DMEM at the concentrations between 20 nM and 40 nM and effective concentration was determined. To assess silencing efficiency of the silencing system, a routinely used liposome system, DreamFect Gold (OzBiosciences, Marseille, France) was employed. The cells were treated with 30 nM DNA nanostructure in a serum-free medium. The morpholino containing liposome treatments were performed using the reagent according to the instructions of manufacturer. Briefly, 5µl of DreamFect Gold was dissolved in 0.5 mL of FBS free media, and then combined with 0.5 mL of morpholino containing media at a final morpholino concentration of 30 nM and the mixture incubated for 20 min at room temperature.For validation of silencing using DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures, two other commercial reagents: A polymer based delivery system Xfect (Clontech, Palo Alto, USA) and a non liposomal lipid based delivery agent FuGene HD (Promega, Madison, USA) were also used. Treatments were performed according to instructions. For Xfect; 1.5µl reagent for

every $5\mu g$ nucleic acid in 100 μ l of reaction buffer was mixed and incubated for 10 min at RT prior to treatment. For FuGene; 3µl reagent for every 1µg nucleic acid was mixed gently and incubated for 15 min at room temperature prior to treatment. The cells were treated with morpholino embedded DNA origami-AuNPs and morpholino containing commercial reagents for 4h. The serum-free medium was replaced with FBS enriched DMEM medium and incubated for another 24h. Cell lysates were prepared using RIPA buffer. Protein concentration of each sample was determined using Bradford Assay according to the instructions reported in the reference [230]. A 40 µg of total protein was subjected to SDS-PAGE. The proteins were transferred to PVDF membranes and placed into blocking solution (3 per cent bovine serum albumin (w/v) in TBS-T) at room temperature for 1h. The membranes were incubated with rabbit anti-HER2/neu primary antibody, rabbit anti-ERa primary antibody, rabbit anti-EGFR primary antibody, Ki-67 (Santa Cruz, USA) and Cyclin B1 primary antibody (all 1:1000 dilutions as indicated) overnight at 4 °C. GAPDH expression was used as control of the equal amounts protein loading. The Western, blotting images were taken using a ChemiDoc MP imaging system (BioRad, USA). The analyses were performed with ImageJ software and the band intensities were normalized to GAPDH and quantified with respective to controls.

Alternative to Western blotting, decrease in the expression level of HER2, which is a cell membrane receptor, was determined also using confocal microscopy. Cover slips were sterilized using 70 per cent ethanol and placed in 6-well plates. BT-474 cells were seeded at 100.000 cells per well. The cells were treated with 30nM morpholino packed liposome and morpholino embedded DNA origami-AuNPs and incubated for 48h. The cells were fixed with cold-methanol at -20°C for 15 min. After washing steps, primary antibody solution specific to HER2 protein was added and incubated at 4°C overnight. The cells were washed with PBS 3 times and incubated with fluorescence labeled secondary antibody Alexa fluor 647 for 2h. Nucleus of the cells was stained with DAPI and the samples were examined using confocal microscopy under 63X objective.

3.2.9. Inhibition of Cancer Cell Proliferation

Breast cancer cells were seeded in 6-well plates at density of 20.000 cells per well. After 24 h attachment, the cells were treated with morpholino embedded gene silencing systems

and expressions of target genes were inhibited. Following the knockdown of the genes, the cells were left for 72 h for proliferation. At the end of the incubation time, the cells were detached from plates and living cells were counted. To eliminate the death cells, trypan blue dye was used.

3.2.10. Determination of Cell Cycle Phase Distributions

After treatment of breast cancer cells with DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures, the cell cycle phase distributions were determined using flow cytometry. BT-474, MCF7, and MDA-MB-231 cells were treated with morpholino embedded DNA origami-AuNPs silencing system designed for silencing of HER2, ERa, and Ki-67 genes respectively. The cell cycle phase distributions of the cells were determined after treatment of different time intervals according to cell cycle duration of the treated cell line. The cells were seeded in 6 well plates at 100.000 cells per well. Following surface attachment, the cells were treated with 30 nM of gene silencing system in FBS free cell medium and incubate for 4 h. Starvation provided synchronization of cell cycles of the cultured cells. FBS enriched cell medium was added to the samples. BT-474 cells were incubated for 120h, while MCF7 and MDA-MB-231 cells were incubated for 48h post-transfection. The cells were detached using trypsin-EDTA solution and collected with centrifugation at 2.500 rpm for 5 min. after washing 3 times with PBS, the cells were dissolved in 70 per cent ice-cold ethanol and left for fixation at +4°C overnight. DNA content of the cells was stained using PI solution after RNase A (300 µg/mL) treatment at 37°C for 30 min. The cell cycle phase distributions were determined 5 min after staining according to their DNA content using Guava EasyCyte flow cytometer (MerkMilipore, USA).

3.2.11. Determination of Apoptosis

As indicated above, the selected genes were related with cancer proliferation and progression. After silencing of these genes using DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures, it was investigated whether the breast cancer cells entered apoptosis pathway using Annexin V-FITC assay. The cells were seeded into 6-well plates at 100.000 cells/well density and left for 24h. After attachment, the cells were treated with 30 nM morpholino embedded

DNA origami-AuNPs gene silencing structures and incubated for 48 and 72 h. At the end of the incubation times, the cells were detached with trypsin and collected with centrifugation at 1500 rpm for 5 min. Following washing steps with cold PBS, the samples were stained with Annexin and PI dyes in binding buffer for 5 min and analyzed with flow cytometry using red and green filters.



4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1. PREPARATION AND CHARACTERIZATION OF DNA ORIGAMI NANOSTRUCTURES

4.1.1. Construction of Morpholino Embedded DNA Origami Nanostructures

For preparation of DNA origami structures, mostly a viral genome and hundreds of staple strands are needed. The complicated formation of the structures makes DNA origami expensive and impractical for large-scale potential applications. In this thesis, we constructed a tile shaped DNA nanostructure by using only nine complementary oligonucleotides (see Table 3.1) including a morpholino sequence with one-step hybridization as schematically represented in Figure 3.1. Up to 4 copies of antisense oligonucleotides can be incorporated into one DNA origami structure from the four arms. It is also possible to embed morpholino into the origami body but it may take longer time for release due to the required longer time for degradation of the origami. Thus, we preferred to place the morpholino to the arms. The constructed DNA origami structure is shown in Figure 4.1.

In this thesis, scaffolded DNA approach was used to prepare morpholino embedded DNA origami structures. In this approach, which allows the successful formation of complex DNA constructs, a long scaffold strain and the shorter helper oligonucleotides are used. Helper oligonucleotides, which are complementary to the long scaffold DNA chain in different positions, are hybridized to the scaffold chain at their annealing temperature during the temperature decrease. The process of hybridization of complementary oligonucleotides due to the gradual reduction of temperature is called thermal annealing, and the thermal annealing process is important for the proper forming of the desired DNA structure. The thermal annealing process can be carried out in a controlled manner using water bath or PCR devices.

Origami formation is carried out in the appropriate buffer solution medium. By altering the buffer solution composition, the efficacy of the oligonucleotide hybridization can be increased. TAE/Mg²⁺ buffer solution is the most commonly used buffer solution for the DNA origami formation and Mg^{2+} ions, which are added into it, prevent electrostatic interactions between neighboring double chains to construct desired DNA structure. When the appropriate buffer solution is not used, this situation makes difficult the acquisition of the desired structure and negatively affects the preservation of the structural integrity of the structure obtained.



Figure 4.1. Structure of DNA origami

4.1.2. Characterization of the Morpholino Embedded DNA Origami Structures

The methods commonly used in the characterization of DNA constructs are microscopic and electrophoretic techniques. Using these techniques, formation of the newly prepared structures can be monitored. In addition to that, shapes and sizes can be analyzed in detail. Although each technique has superiority over another technique, they also exhibits some disadvantages. The necessity of fixing the structures to the analysis surface and high volume sample requirement are the main disadvantages, which are observed in these analysis methods. Atomic force microscopy, transmission electron microscopy, agarose and polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis are the common analyse techniques used for the structure confirmation and monitoring. To characterize the morpholino embedded DNA origami structures, agarose gel electrophoresis and AFM techniques were performed in this thesis.

4.1.2.1. Agarose Gel Electrophoresis

Agarose gel electrophoresis is one of the most preferred methods for characterization of DNA constructs because of the small amount sample requirement and its easy applicability. The formation of the desired DNA structure can be easily monitored on the agarose gel. Due to the increase in molecular weight by hybridization of oligonucleotides, the DNA structures migrating at different rates in the agarose gel can be distinguished easily.

The formation of the DNA origami structures was monitored using agarose gel electrophoresis. In Figure 4.2, the agarose gel electrophoresis image of the sequentially hybridized oligonucleotides is shown. The wells numbered from 1 to 9 contain the increasing number of complementary oligonucleotides to form the origami structure. The first well has only one oligonucleotide and the others were the samples prepared by adding sequential complementary oligonucleotides. The last sample was complete DNA origami structure. As seen, the molecular weight of the hybridized structures gradually increases with the addition of sequential complementary oligonucleotides, which indicates formation of the origami structure.



Figure 4.2. Agarose gel electrophoresis of increasing number of complementary oligonucleotides forming DNA origami. The "1" is the smallest oligonucleotide itself, others are the structures formed with the addition of complementary oligonucleotides sequentially numbered as 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, and 9.

Antisense oligos can be perfectly integrated into DNA nanostructures due to their similar chemistry [60]. The morpholino oligos were embedded into the DNA origami structures simply by just using complementary base pairing. Unlike other antisense oligos, morpholino/DNA hybridization occurs efficiently independent from salt concentration [231] indicating DNA nanostructures as perfect candidate for delivery of morpholinos. Morpholino embedded DNA origami structures were prepared systematically. 1, 2, 3, and 4 morpholino oligos embedded DNA origami structures were formed and characterized using agarose gel electrophoresis. Figure 4.3 shows the gel image of the DNA origami without morpholino that is labeled as Origami, and 1 morpholino, 2, 3, and 4 morpholino oligos did not run through gel matrix as they are neutral. However, when the morpholino oligos incorporate into the origami structure, they run together with origami but slower that DNA origami without morpholino. So the increasing number of morpholinos embedded to the structures seen like increase in size. The gel electrophoresis image showed that morpholino oligos efficiently integrated to DNA origami nanostructures.



Figure 4.3. DNA origami nanostructures with and without morpholino. The first sample is the DNA origami without morpholinos. M1, M2, M3, and M4 are 1, 2, 3, and 4 morpholinos embedded DNA origami respectively.

4.1.2.2. Atomic Force Microscopy

To determine the formation of DNA origami structures, the prepared samples were analyzed using AFM. For AFM analysis, DNA origami samples were diluted 100 times to prevent formation of salt crystals on mica surface. Theoretically one edge of the tile shaped origami is 30 nm. In AFM images, size of some spots was consistent with the theoretical size. However, some of the particles had higher sizes than theoretical size. During sample preparation for AFM analysis (air-drying on mica surface), structures in bigger size than expected could occur because of aggregation of DNA origami samples. AFM images are shown in Figure 4.4, 4.5, and 4.6. The AFM analysis supported the agarose gel electrophoresis results and so formation of DNA origami structures.



Figure 4.4. AFM image of droplet area belongs to suspension containing DNA origami (2 x 2 μm^2).



Figure 4.5. AFM image of droplet area belongs to suspension containing DNA origami (2 μm^2).



Figure 4.6. AFM image of droplet area belongs to suspension containing DNA origami (600 x 600 nm2).

4.2. PREPARATION OF DNA ORIGAMI-AUNPs NANOSTRUCTURES

It was reported that DNA modification of AuNPs increased internalization of the particles and provided the DNA higher resistance to nuclease digestion in serum [47]. In addition, when DNA delivered to cells using liposome, interferon- β level was pretty high, while AuNPs-DNA conjugates showed no immunological response. To increase intracellular uptake and for being biocompatible, DNA origami structures were functionalized with AuNPs. After the preparation and characterization of the DNA origami structures, they were modified with the Oligo-AuNPs through the sticky ends of the origamis. The AuNPs with 13 nm of average size were coated with thiol modified oligonucleotides, which are complementary to sticky ends of the origamis.

Size and concentration of AuNPs can be determined using UV/Vis spectroscopy [232]. Synthesized spherical AuNPs from 5 to 100 nm size were analyzed using TEM and UV/Vis spectroscopy and found that theoretical calculations from the spectra agrees with TEM results. Due to optical properties of AuNPs, spectra of these nanoparticles depends on their size and aggregation [233, 234]. UV/Vis spectroscopy allows fast and easy determination of size of AuNPs. Synthesized AuNPs, modification of the nanoparticles with oligonucleotides (Oligo-AuNPs) and preparation of DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures were characterized using UV/Vis spectroscopy. UV/Vis spectra of prepared

nanostructures are shown in Figure 4.7. The maximum absorbance wavelength of 13 nm AuNPs containing suspension was 520 nm. Depend on the size increase, maximum absorbance of the oligonucleotide modified AuNPs and DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures were shifted to longer wavelengths. With the oligonucleotide modification, the absorption maximum increased to 529 nm. When the absorbance spectrum of DNA origami-AuNPs was measured, it was found as at around 538 nm suggesting the formation of the targeted structure.



Figure 4.7. UV/Vis spectra of colloidal suspension of 13 nm AuNPs, Oligo-AuNPs, and DNA origami-AuNPs.

DLS is an analytical technique used for determination of hydrodynamic size of nanoparticles in aqueous media. DLS is highly convenient for determination of hydrodynamic size of AuNPs and its conjugates [235]. The hydrodynamic sizes of the AuNPs, Oligo-AuNPs and DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures determined using DLS and are shown in Figure 4.8. The average hydrodynamic size of bare AuNPs was 13 nm. The average sizes of the Oligo-AuNPs and DNA origami-AuNPs observed with DLS were about 24 nm and 51 nm, respectively. As seen, an increase in hydrodynamic radius was observed from bare AuNPs to DNA origami-AuNPs supporting the results of UV/Vis spectroscopy and indicating the formation of aimed nanostructure.



Figure 4.8. DLS spectra of AuNPs, Oligo-AuNPs, and DNA origami-AuNPs.

4.2.1. Stability Analysis of DNA Origami-AuNPs Nanostructures

Delivery systems are susceptible to dissociation in the extracellular environment. One of the major issues about a gene delivery system is to retain structural integrity until their cellular internalization to protect the silencing oligonucleotides from external effects. The success of a therapeutic depends on many factors including stability of delivery vehicles [236]. Thus, the stability of the DNA origami structures in PBS and in cell culture medium was studied. Figure 4.9 shows the gel image of DNA origami structures incubated in PBS. As it is seen from the image, the nanostructures stayed stable after the incubation intervals.



Figure 4.9. Agarose gel electrophoresis image of DNA origami incubated in PBS. The "1" is the control sample without incubation, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7 represent the origamis incubated for 4, 6, 8, 12, 24, and 48 hours.

After demonstrating DNA origami structures are stable in isotonic environment, their stability in blood serum containing medium was investigated. For this, the DNA origamis were incubated in a cell medium supplemented with 10 per cent FBS for 6, 24, 36, and 48 hours. After the indicated time intervals, the samples directly taken from the incubated environment and loaded onto agarose gel. Figure 4.10 shows the gel electrophoresis of the origamis recovered from the cell culture medium. As seen, there is no indication that the origamis are disassembled in cell culture medium as indicated by intact spots on the gel electrophoresis image. One can easily conclude that the origamis are stable in cell culture medium and structural integrity of DNA origami was remained up to 48 hours.



Figure 4.10. Agarose gel electrophoresis image of DNA origamis incubated in cell medium. The "1" is the control sample without incubation, 2, 3, 4, and 5 represent the origamis incubated for 6, 24, 36, and 48 hours.

4.3. CELL CULTURE EXPERIMENTS

For gene silencing studies, breast cancer was selected as model and 4 different genes related to breast cancer cell proliferation were determined. These are HER2, EGFR, Ki-67, and ER α genes, which are highly expressed in many cancer cells. In scope of cell culture studies, 3 different breast cancer cell lines were purchased; BT-474, MDA-MB-231 and MCF7. BT-474 cell line has high expression levels of all the 4 selected genes and especially HER2 is overexpressed in this cell line. The BT-474 cell line was used in the silencing of the HER2 oncogene, which had the highest expression, was also used in multigene silencing studies. Other cell lines MDA-MB-231 and MCF7 were used in the suppression of Ki-67 and ER α genes in which they had the highest expression levels, respectively. On the other hand, MDA-MB-231 is a triple negative resistant cell line and

was used as negative control in some experiments. Expression profiles of the cell lines in terms of the selected genes are shown in Table 4.1.

Table 4.1. Expression levels of HER2,	EGFR, Ki	i-67, and ER α	genes in MDA_	_MB_	_231,
MCF-7 and	BT-474 ce	ell lines [237].			

	HER2	EGFR	Ki-67 (%)	ERα
MDA_MB_231	Low	Positive (+1)	100	Negative(0)
BT-474	High	Positive (+1)	70	Positive(+1)
MCF-7	Low	Positive (+1)	90	Positive(+6)

4.3.1. Toxicity of DNA Origami-AuNPs Nanostructures

There have been many studies to provide effective delivery of antisense oligos into cells. Most the delivery vehicles have been successful although their biggest limitation was toxicity [231]. Safety and bioavailability of a delivery vehicle is essential for its success. Thus, toxicity of our proposed nanocarrier was investigated on healthy and cancer cells. The effect of morpholino embedded DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures on cell viability was determined using WST-1 test. Morpholino oligos were designed against HER2, EGFR, Ki-67 and ER α genes and custom made by Gene Tools. The purchased morpholinos were integrated into DNA origami structure. The toxicities of DNA origami structures with and without morpholinos were determined. Figure 4.11 shows the viability of MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells treated with DNA origami structures without any silencing oligo. It was seen that DNA origami structures, which did not contain morpholino oligos, did not have any effect on cell viability. The prepared nanosturctures were non-toxic and biocompatible.



Figure 4.11. Viability of MDA-MB-231 cells treated with DNA origami-AuNPs structures without morpholino oligos.

The toxicity of morpholino embedded DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures were investigated on both breast cancer and healthy breast cells. For this, MDA-MB-231 cells, which are HER2 negative, were treated with morpholino embedded DNA orgami-AuNPs designed against HER2. The viability of the cells was determined using WST-1. As it is seen in Figure 4.12, the viability of cells treated with the gene silencing system did not decrease and no toxic effect was observed.



Figure 4.12. Viability of MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells treated with morpholino embedded DNA origami-AuNPs against HER2 oncogene.

The toxicity of morpholino embedded DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures was also investigated on healthy cells. For this, non-tumorigenic breast tissue cells were used. After treatment with morpholino embedded DNA origami-AuNPs against ER α gene, viability of MCF-10A healthy cells were determined using WST-1 and showed in Figure 4.13. It was demonstrated that the designed gene silencing system did not have any toxic effect on the tested health cells.



Figure 4.13. Viability of MCF-10A healthy breast cells treated with morholino embedded DNA origami-AuNPs against ERα gene.

4.3.2. Cellular Internalization and Localization of DNA Origami-AuNPs

Cellular internalization of a delivery system is important for function of their cargos at target location. The studies showed that DNA nanostructures managed to enter cells through endosytosis without requirement of any transfection reagents [238]. There are some studies demonstrating DNA nanostructures internalized via spesific receptor mediated endocytosis [239-241]. The internalization and intracellular localization of DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures were investigated by confocal microscopy. For this, one of staple strands (P10) used for DNA origami construction was provided with Cy5 modification. The DNA origami structures were prepared with Cy5 modified oligonucleotides and the breast cancer cells were treated with fluorescence labeled DNA origami-AuNPs. After 30 min incubation with DNA nanostructures, endosomes and lysosomes were stained with lysotracker green, a dye molecule. Following the washing steps, the cells were analyzed with confocal microscopy and the images are shown in

Figure 4.14. The endosomes are seen as green and the DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures are seen as blue. In the merged images, it can be seen that some of the DNA origami-AuNPs carriers were inside of the endosomes (the spots blue and green colors overlap) and some of them located in cytoplasm (the blue spots shown with arrow mark). The images showed that DNA origami-AuNPs were internalized through endocytosis and some of the nanostructures managed to escape from endosomes and reach to cytoplasm, where their site of action.



Figure 4.14. Intracellular localization and endosomal escape of DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures.

4.3.3. Gene Silencing Studies

Alteration in genetic status of cells has been an effective approach for treatment of geneticbased or infectious-triggered diseases and makes possible personalized treatment. Many types of antisense oligonucleotides were developed for regulation of target genes in cells [242]. However, under normal conditions these oligonucleotides are unsuccessful to enter into cytosol or nucleus [231]. Delivery of the antisense oligonucleotides, which are analogs of DNA or RNA, is limited with many delivery systems. On the other hand, these oligonucleotides can be easily integrated into DNA nanostructure simply through hybridization for delivery. The DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures were proposed for delivery of morpholino oligos to breast cancer cells. A systematic study was designed to investigate the gene silencing features of DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures. First, nanocarriers were prepared for silencing of single gene. Morpholino sequences specific for four target genes were embedded to DNA origami structures individually. The prepared carriers for single gene silencing were represented schematically in Figure 4.15.



Figure 4.15. Schematic representation of DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures designed for single gene silencing.

Breast cancer cells were treated with different concentrations of DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures and an appropriate concentration was determined for further experiments. GAPDH, a house keeping gene, was used as control of equal protein loading. Expression levels of HER2 gene in BT-474 cells and level of ER α gene in MCF7 cells were determined after treatment with DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures targeting these genes. The immunoblot results are shown in Figure 4.16. The data showed that even in very low morpholino concentrations such as 20 nM, DNA origami-AuNPs carriers effectively decreased the target gene expressions. In addition, the gene silencing efficiency was increased in a dose dependent manner. The designed nanocarriers can be used for silencing of target genes to obtain high silencing rates as the nanostructure is non-toxic. Further experiments were conducted at 30 nM concentration of morpholino, which provided approximately 50 per cent gene silencing.





To understand if morpholino oligonucleotides have any effect on gene expression without any carrier system, MCF7 cells were treated with bare morpholinos against ER α gene and the intracellular protein level was determined using immunoblotting. The Western Blot image is shown in Figure 4.17. It was determined that morpholino embedded DNA origami-AuNPs carrier system decreased the target gene expression level considerably while the target protein level remain unchanged when the cells were treated with bare morpholino oligos. The results showed that morpholinos had no effect on gene expression without any delivery system.



Figure 4.17. ERα protein level in MCF7 cells treated with bare morpholino and morpholino embedded DNA origami-AuNPs.

The gene silencing efficiency of the designed DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures, which showed gene silencing activity even at low concentrations, were evaluated comparatively with the silencing efficiency of a liposomal delivery system. Morpholino antisense oligos were packed with a liposome system commercially available in the market and the cells were treated with liposome-packed morpholinos in parallel with morpholino embedded DNA origami-AuNPs at same concentrations. HER2 and ER α were targeted in BT-474 and MCF7 cells, respectively. Morpholino oligos specific for the target genes were delivered using both liposome and DNA origami-AuNPs systems and target protein levels were determined after 24h treatment. Western blotting images and the gene expression analysis are shown in Figure 4.18. It was observed that silencing efficiency of the cationic liposome was variable and DNA origami-AuNPs carriers inhibited the targeted protein expressions approximately 30 per cent more effective than the liposome.





Cationic liposomes have hydrophilic head groups containing one or more amine (NH₂) groups, which provide cationic character [133]. These kinds of cationic delivery systems interact with their DNA or RNA cargos electrostatically through negatively charged phosphate groups of the nucleic acid molecules [131]. Morpholino oligonucletides are nuclease resistant, neutral oligonucleotides, which contain phosphorodiamidate groups in their backbone instead of phosphate groups [19]. Because of their neutral structure, interaction of morpholinos with cationic liposomes and polymers are insufficient [25]. Thus, delivery of morpholino oligos with cationic delivery systems is unsatisfactory. In this thesis, DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures were used for delivery of morpholinos and efficient internalization and gene silencing were obtained.

Gene silencing using morpholino embedded DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures was demonstrated also by using confocal microscopy. BT-474 cells were treated with the nanocarriers for silencing of HER2, a surface receptor protein. After inhibition of the gene expression, the cells were incubated with fluorescence-labeled antibodies and analyzed with confocal microscopy. In Figure 4.19, confocal image of BT-474 cells after 48h incubation is shown. HER2 proteins are labeled with Alexafluor 647 antibody (red), and

cell nucleus was labeled with DAPI (blue). Control is the cells incubated with only cell medium, morpholino is only morpholino oligos without any carrier. The controls showed high luminicence while morpholino delivered cells using liposome and DNA origami showed slightly decreased brightness in red fluorescence indicating gene silencing.



Figure 4.19. Confocal images of BT-474 cells after silencing of HER2 gene.

Targeted genes have more than one transcript variants and the morholino oligonucleotides were designed against the mostly produced transcript variant and complementary to sequences common in all mRNAs if it is possible. The designed morpholino oligos effectively silenced the HER2 and ER α genes, To determine the effectiveness of morholino sequences designed for silencing of EGFR and Ki-67 genes, BT-474 and MDA-MB-231 cells were treated with morpholino embedded DNA origami-AuNPs, respectively and the decrease in the target protein expression was showed using immunoblotting. The Western blot images are shown in Figure 4.20. According to the findings, all 4 morpholino sequences designed to use in this thesis were effective for silencing of their target genes in the selected cell lines and specific for their targets indicating the successful design of morpholino antisense oligonucleotides.



Figure 4.20. Changes in Ki-67 expression in MDA-MB-231 cells and EGFR expression in BT-474 cells after silencing using liposome and DNA origami-AuNPs at 30nM morpholino concentration.

4.3.4. Inhibiton of Cancer Cell Proliferation

For the proof of concept experiments, breast cancer was selected as model and 4 different genes, which are related with breast cancer growth and proliferation, were chosen for regulation study. Aberrant expression of ER is a predictive marker for breast cancer. Although hormone receptor positive cancer types are mostly sensitive to hormone therapies, 25-50 per cent of these tumors show resistance to the hormone treatment [243]. Estrogen hormone triggers mitosis in breast cancers, which contains ER [244, 245]. Most of the primary breast cancers are ER α positive and needs estrogens for tumor growth. Estrogens act through ERs and increase cell division. As a result, estrogens shows mitogenic activity in ER+ cells [246] and ERs has an significant role in cancer progression. Inhibiting ER α expression in breast cancer cells possibly will inhibit the mitogenic activity of estrogen hormone.

One of the other predictive markers of breast cancer is HER2. About 25-30 per cent of breast cancers were determined to have abnormal HER2 expression [247]. The expression

of these biomarkers determines personalized treatment practices in clinic. A patient with HER2 positive tumor usually respond to HER2 targeted therapy trastuzumab, which decrease proliferation of HER2 positive cancer cells through degradation of the protein [248]. However HER2 overexpressing tumors are not always sensitive to trastuzumab and some tumors develop resistance to this therapy. Breast cancer cells manage to develop a mechanism against the antiproliferative effect of the drug [249] so new strategies are needed to inhibit excessive cell division of HER2 positive breast cancer cells.

Ki-67 is a proliferation marker and studies with invasive ductal carcinoma patients showed that Ki-67 expression signifies poor prognosis and associated with expression of some predictive molecular markers such as estrogen receptors, HER2 and EGFR [250]. The majority of the markers, including Ki-67, determine malignant grow characteristic of cells [251]. Expression of Ki-67 in breast cancer malignancies refers poor outcome in patients [252]. Inhibition of Ki-67 gene caused inhibition of cancer cell proliferation and growth, increase of apoptotic cell rates in both *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies [211, 253, 254].

Effect of suppression of these genes in their overexpressing cell lines on cell proliferation was investigated. Morpholinos designed against HER2, ER α and Ki-67 genes were delivered to breast cancer cells using DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures and effect of gene silencing on proliferation rates of the cells were determined. For this, treated cells were cultured for 72h for proliferation. At the end of this time, cells were detached, living cells were counted and the proliferation rates of the cells after gene silencing were determined. As seen in Figures 4.21, 4.22 and 4.23, after silencing of HER2 gene in BT-474 cells, ER α gene in MCF7 cells, and Ki-67 gene in MDA-MB-231 cells using DNA origami-AuNPs, cancer cell proliferation rates decreased. Silencing of HER2, ER α and Ki-67 genes led approximately 55 per cent, 30 per cent and 45 per cent inhibition in cancer cell proliferation, respectively.



Figure 4.21. Effect of silencing of HER2 gene on proliferation of BT-474 cells. P value represents ***P<0.001.



Figure 4.22. Effect of silencing of ERα gene on proliferation of MCF7 cells. P value represents ***P<0.001.



Figure 4.23. Effect of silencing of Ki-67 gene on proliferation of MDA-MB-231 cells. P value represents ***P<0.001.

4.3.5. Cell Cycle Phase Distribution Analysis

After determining effect of gene silencing on cell proliferation, changes in cell cycle phase distribution of cells were investigated. In previous studies, proportion of cells at G_0/G_1 phases was increase as a result of HER2 silencing [255]. Overexpression of ER α gene in breast cancer cells resulted increase number of cells in S and G_2/M phases. [256]. Estrogens act through ERs and increase cell division. This hormone drive inactive (G_0) cells into active cell cycle, accelerate G_1 phase span so reduce the total cell cycle duration [257, 258]. The effect of estrogen on cell cycle also reported *in vivo* [259]. A decrease in cell proportion at these phases was expected after silencing of ER α . Ki-67 is a proliferation marker and expressed in all phases of cell cycle but G_0 . The knowledge about exact function of Ki-67 is scarce but it is thought to has a role in couple of cellular functions including cell cycle progression [260]. It is known that the protein has a role in cancer proliferation and exists in all active cell cycle phases [261]. It is likely for cacer cells to enter G_0 phase after silencing of this gene. After delivery of morholinos designed for silencing of these genes using DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures, cell cycle phase distribusions of each overexpressing cell line were determined.

Compared to the untreated control cells, an increase in G_0/G_1 phase was observed in all treatment groups. The cell cycle phase distributions of breast cancer cells after silencing of HER2, ER α and Ki-67 genes are shown in Figures 4.24, 4.25 and 4.26, respectively. The

suppression of HER2 gene caused a decrease mostly at G_2/M phases in BT-474 cells. A proportion of cells at S phase was decreased after the silencing of ER α gene in MCF7 cells while silencing of Ki-67 led to a decrease at both S and G_2/M phases in MDA-MB-231 cells.



Figure 4.24. Cell cycle phase distributions of BT-474 cells. Control is untreated cancer cells, Treated is the cells treated with morpholino embedded DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures against HER2 gene. P value represents *P<0.05; ***P<0.001.



Figure 4.25. Cell cycle phase distributions of MCF7 cells. Control is untreated cancer cells, Treated is the cells treated with morpholino embedded DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures against ERα gene. P value represents ***P<0.001.



Figure 4.26. Cell cycle phase distributions of MDA-MB-231 cells. Control is untreated cancer cells, Treated is the cells treated with morpholino embedded DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures against Ki-67 gene. P value represents **P<0.01; ***P<0.001.

The results of the cell cycle analysis showed that silencing of the target genes induced changes in phase distributions and the obtained data was consistent with the cancer cell proliferation analysis results. The decrease in S and G2/M phases was obtained following the silencing of HER2 and ER α genes and the results of flow cytometry analysis were confirmed by determination of cyclin B1 expression level by Western blotting. Cyclin B1 is a protein, which has a role in cell cycle progression. The Western, blotting image is shown in Figure 4.27. The decrease in cyclin B1 expression after silencing of HER2 and ER α genes confirmed the cell cycle analysis by flow cytometry.



Figure 4.27. Expression level of cyclin B1 protein in BT-474 and MCF7 cells after silencing of HER2 and ERα genes, respectively.

4.3.6. Multi-Gene Regulation

Gene silencing is a sophisticated strategy for treatment of gene-related diseases. There have been many clinical trials of gene silencing therapeutics targeting cancer and viruses [262]. Inhibiting more than one gene at the same time was demonstrated as an effective cancer treatment strategy due to simultaneous inhibition of multiple pathways [263]. Also multiple locations in virus genome was targeted with RNAi for treatment of infectious caused diseases [264, 265] In gene silencing therapies, it is preferred to target multiple genes for synergistic effect and prevention of resistance to therapeutics [266]. Delivery of multiple siRNAs is mostly a requirement as viruses could develop rapid mutations for resistance when single gene was targeted by RNAi [267]. On the other hand, multiple gene-targeting is necessary for treatment of cancer types caused by abnormal expression of more than one gene. In multi-gene regulation studies, DNA origami structures harboring more than one morpholino oligos were used for silencing of multiple genes simultaneously. Silencing of 2, 3 and 4 different genes were attempted. Initially, simultaneous silencing of 2 genes was achieved. For this, DNA origami structures containing two morpholinos were prepared. In these experiments, HER2-ERa and EGFR-Ki-67 couples were targeted. The DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures designed and prepared for 2-gene targeting are schematically shown in Figure 4.28. Breast cancer cells were treated with the multi-gene regulating DNA orgami-AuNPs nanosystems and the expression levels of the silenced genes were determined using Western blotting after 24h incubation.



Figure 4.28. DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures used for multi-gene regulation studies
(a) the nanostructure used for simultaneous silencing of ERα and HER2 genesand (b) the nanostructure used for simultaneous silencing of EGFR and Ki-67 genes.

The expression levels of ER α and HER2 genes following their simultaneous silencing in MCF7 and BT-474 cells are shown in Figure 4.29. DNA origami-AuNPs carriers containing both HER2 targeting morholino and ER α targeting morpholino were used for gene silencing. Together with that, these genes were targeted individually by using DNA origami-AuNPs and liposome. Single morpholino containing nanocarrier was named as M1, 2 morpholinos containing nanocarrier was called M2. In multi-gene regulation strudies, control cells were treated with DNA origami structures containing morpholinos, which are non-complementary to human genome. The results after silencing the target genes alone and in combination showed that simultaneous silencing increased the efficiency of inhibition of gene expression in both genes.



Figure 4.29. Protein expression levels of HER2 and ERα in BT-474 and MCF7 cells, respectively.

Also EGFR and Ki-67 genes were simultaneously targeted using DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures. BT-474 cells were treated with the nanocarrier system for inhibition of these genes. The protein expression analyses after silencing of EGFR and Ki-67 simultaneously are shown in Figure 4.30. At the beginning of the study, DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures inhibited target gene expressions approximately 50 per cent. The Western, blotting analysis showed that multiple silencing of genes induced about 80 per cent decrease in protein levels. It was demonstrated that multi-gene regulation increased gene silencing efficiency of all targeted genes in all tested cells and DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures are very suitable systems for multi-gene regulation.


Figure 4.30. Expression levels of EGFR and Ki-67 genes in BT-474 cells after multi-gene regulation. P value represents ***P<0.001.

Two genes were targeted at the same time for the multi-gene regulation studies and simultaneous silencing of 3 and 4 genes were carried out afterward. Successful integration of 1, 2, 3 and 4 morpholinos into DNA origami structure was demonstrated by agarose gel electrophoresis and effective silencing of multiple genes by using these DNA origami structures was showed with immunoblotting. Expression levels of EGFR protein after silencing only EGFR (M1), simultaneous silencing of EGFR and Ki-67 (M2), and silencing of EGFR, Ki-67 and ER α genes simultaneously (M3) are shown in Figure 4.31. The data showed that regulation of multiple genes synergistically increased the silencing efficiency.



Figure 4.31. Expression levels of EGFR gene after silencing of 1, 2 and 3 different genes simultaneously. P value represents *P<0.05; **P<0.01; ***P<0.001.

4.3.6.1. Inhibition of Proliferation after Multi-Gene Regulation

The delivey of more than one silencing agents resulted in enhanced inhibition on target genes expressions [266]. When it is compared to single gene silencing, multi-targeted inhibiton had increased therapeutic efficiency in cancer therapy. Silencing of the target genes were determined to decrease proliferation of the breast cancer cells. To understand effect of multi-gene regulation on cancer cell proliferation, proliferation rates of BT-474 cells were determined following simultaneous knockdown of EGFR and Ki-67 genes. The cells were treated with single morpholino embedded DNA origami-AuNPs against EGFR, single morpholino embedded DNA origami-AuNPs against EGFR, solution, the cells were counted and the proliferation rates were determined according to control group. The viability of the cells treated with DNA origami-AuNPs gene regulating systems was shown in Figure 4.32.



Figure 4.32. Viability of BT-474 cells after multi-regulation of Ki-67 and EGFR genes. P value represents ***P<0.001.

To understand the effects of multi-gene regulation, 1, 2, 3, and 4 morpholinos designed for silencing of different genes were incorporated into DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures and BT-474 cells, which is positive for all the target genes, were treated with single and multiple morpholino embedded nanocarriers then their proliferation rates were determined. M1 contains EGFR morpholino, M2 and M3 contains EGFR+Ki-67 and EGFR+Ki-67+ER α , respectively. M4 harbors all EGFR, Ki-67, ER α and HER2 morpholinos. Viability of the cells is shown in Figure 4.33. In Western, blotting results, it was showed that multi-gene silencing increased silencing efficiency synergically but did not significantly differ than single gene silencing in cancer cell proliferation.



Figure 4.33. Proliferation rates of BT-474 cells treated with 1, 2, 3, and 4 morpholino embedded DNA origami-AuNPs. P value represents ***P<0.001.

4.3.6.2. Cell Cycle Analysis after Multi Gene Silencing

It was determined in single-gene silencing studies that inhibition of the target genes altered in cell cycle phase distributions of breast cancer cells. For the investigation of the effect of simultaneous gene regulation on cycle of cancer cells, the expression of EGFR and Ki-67 genes were inhibited simultaneously and cell cycle phase distributions of BT-474 cells were determined following the gene silencing. The cell cycle analyses are shown Figure 4.34. 48h after silencing of EGFR and Ki-67 genes decrease in mitosis phase was observed. Multi-gene silencing also led decrease in mitosis. However, there was no significant difference on cell cycle phase distributions between single and multi-gene silencing, which is consistent with proliferation results.



Figure 4.34. Cell cycle phase distributions of BT-474 cells after silencing of EGFR and Ki-67 genes. P value represents *P<0.05; **P<0.01; ***P<0.001.

Effect of multi-gene silencing on cell cycle phases were investigated also by silencing of EGFR, Ki-67 and ER α genes. Figure 4.35 shows the cell cycle phase distributions of BT-474 cells 72h after silencing of the genes alone and simultaneously.



Figure 4.35. Effect of multi-gene silencing on cell cycle phase distributions of BT-474 cells. P value represents *P<0.05; **P<0.01; ***P<0.001.

4.3.6.3. Apoptosis Analysis after Multi-Gene Regulation

Apoptosis is controlled cell death mechanism and in some diseases suc as cancer, promotion of apoptosis is required for treatment [268, 269]. It was determined that single and multiple silencing of the target genes caused inhibition of cancer cell proliferation. Whether gene silencing using DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures induced apoptosis was investigated with Annexin V-FITC assay. In Figure 4.36 and 4.37, apoptosis analysis of BT-474 cells after multi-silencing of HER2 – ER α and EGFR – Ki-67 genes are shown, respectively. It was also investigated whether the simultaneous suppression of 2, 3 and 4 different genes starting from a single gene had an effect on entrance to apoptosis pathway and the flow cytometry results are shown in Figure 4.38. After regulation of the genes, the mortality of the breast cancer cells was around between 30 per cent and 40 per cent. The obtained data showed that gene regulation using DNA origami-AuNPs nanocarriers resulted in apoptosis in cancer cells and increase the death rate.



Figure 4.36. Apoptosis analysis of BT-474 cells after silencing of HER2 and ERα genes alone and simultaneously.



Figure 4.37. Apoptosis analysis of BT-474 cells after silencing of EGFR and Ki-67 genes alone and simultaneously.



Figure 4.38 Apoptosis rates of BT-474 cells after simultaneous silencing of EGFR, Ki-67, ER α and HER2 genes.

4.3.7. Validation of Gene Silencing

For effective treatment of diseases, it is necessary to increase the efficiency of therapeutic agents and decrease the side effects. To that end, well-designed delivery vehicles, which effectively carry and release the agents to the target site have been investigated by researchers. Viruses are efficient delivery options however, they have safety issues. Nanostructures as non-viral delivery sistems such as dendrimers [270], metallic nanoparticles [271], and carbon nanotubes [272], lipid-based [273] and polymer-based nanoparticles [274] have been studied in cancer therapy. The most of the carrier systems generate biological responses such as immune response, effecting gene expression, causing oxidative stress, or toxicity. The biocompatibility is one of the major issues for disease treatment in clinical studies.

DNA nanostructures have superior features compare to other non-viral delivery systems. DNA, which is building block of these nanostructures, can be easily modified with other molecules and materials for multiple functions such as targetin, imaging, and sensing. Moreover, DNA nanomaterials are stable and biocompatible. In this thesis, a morpholino embedded nanostructure was designed and prepared using DNA nanotechnology approach. It was shown that this nanostructure managed to inhibit target gene expressions effectively and regulated multiple genes simultaneously by embedding more than one morpholino oligos into the structure. To validate the efficiency of the designed nanostructure, inhibition in target protein expression after treatment with DNA origami-AuNPs was compared with some of commercially available transfection reagents. In single and multiple gene regulation experiments, silencing rates of DNA origami-AuNPs were determined in parallel with liposomes and according to Western blotting results, the liposomes were not sufficient for delivery of morpholino oligos and decreased the target gene expressions approximately 30 per cent less than DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures.

In addition to liposome, 2 other transfection reagents were used for validation of DNA origami-AuNPs. Gene silencing rates of DNA origami-AuNPs carriers were compared with a non-liposomal lipid based transfection system FuGene and a polymer based reagent XFect. Western blotting images were shown in Figure 4.39. Silencing efficiency of DNA origami-AuNPs structures was higher than both reagents.



Figure 4.39. Expression levels of ERα ve HER2 proteins after gene silencing using DNA origami-AuNPs, XFect and FuGene delivery systems.

Gene and drug delivery systems are preferred to be biocompatible. There should not be any effect of the delivery system itself o cells rather than the cargo it carries. However, biocompatible delivery systems are studied by researchers due to toxicity of commercially available and widely used carriers. It was showed that the designed and prepared DNA origami-AuNPs delivery system in this thesis was non-toxic on both cancer and healthy cells. On the other hand, the transfection reagents used for validation of gene silencing efficiency of DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures were determined as highly toxic. This makes impossible to deliver high concentrations of DNA into cells. Toxicity of the commercial delivery systems used for validation of the DNA origami-AuNPs carriers are shown in Figures 4.40, 4.41 and 4.42. Viability of BT-474 cells was determined after 24h treatment with necessary amounts of delivery agents for transfection of DNA concentrations indicated on graphs.



Figure 4.40. Viability of BT-474 cells treated with liposomal delivery system DreamFect.



Figure 4.41. Viability of BT-474 cells treated with non-liposomal lipid based delivery system FuGene.



Figure 4.42. Viability of BT-474 cells treated with polymer based transfection system

XFect.

5. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVE

In this thesis, DNA based delivery systems, which contain morpholino antisense oligonucleotides in their structure, were designed for regulation of multiple genes alone and in combination. These DNA nanostructures were successfully used for silencing of 4 different cancer proliferation related genes in breast cancer cells as model. The designed DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures were prepared and the 1, 2, 3, and 4 different morpholino oligos embedded, tile shaped delivery systems were characterized. It was determined that the structures were stable both in isotonic solutions at physiological pH and in serum containing cell medium. In the scope of cell culture studies, 3 different breast cancer cell lines were cultured and used for proof of concept. Gene silencing studies were started with using single morpholino embedded DNA origami-AuNPs and effective knockdown was observed even in very low concentrations. Decrease in the expression of all individually targeted genes was determined using Western blotting technique. Suppression of these cancer proliferation related genes were led inhibition of cellular proliferation and alteration on cell cycle phase distributions of breast cancer cells. The obtained data after silencing of these genes were corresponding with the previous studies published in literature [210, 216, 226, 275].

Efficiency of DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures was evaluated comparatively with liposome, most commonly used transfection system. It was seen that DNA origami-AuNPs had no toxic effect and led 30 per cent more decrease in the target gene expressions. In addition, due to their high toxicity, DNA concentration that can be sent to cells with the liposome is limited while the cells can be treated with any desired concentration of silencing agent using DNA origami.

For gene silencing studies, morpholinos against HER2, ER α and Ki-67 genes were embedded to DNA origami-AuNPs nanosturctures separately and their expressions were inhibited in breast cancer cell lines, which were overexpressed in terms of these genes. After silencing of each gene, proliferation rates of breast cancer cells were decreased and rates of G₀/G₁ phase were increased in cell cycle phase distributions. It was determined that the designed morpholinos and morpholino embedded DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures were successful for regulation of selected genes and the gene regulation studies were carried further with simultaneous silencing of 2 genes. For this, 2 different morholinos were embedded into DNA origami structures. HER2- ERα genes and EGFR-Ki-67 genes were silenced simultaneously and the effect of multi-gene silencing was investigated by determining cell proliferation rates and cell cycle phase distributions. The multi-gene regulation studies continued with silencing of 3 and 4 genes at the same time. It was showed that inhibiting more than one gene simultaneously increased the rate of silencing. By using 30 nM morpholino embedded DNA origami-AuNPs, approximately expression of target gene decreased 50 per cent in single gene silencing, while multi-gene regulation increased the gene silencing rate to about 80 per cent. After determination of expression levels of the target genes, effect of multi-gene regulation of cell proliferation and cell cycle was investigated. It was observed that also simultaneous silencing of target genes decreased the proliferation rates and changed the cell cycle phase distributions but not significantly different from single gene regulation.

Gene silencing efficiency of DNA origami-AuNPs nanosturctures was compared with 3 different commercial transfectin reagents. The gene silencing rates and toxicity of the transfection systems were determined in parallel with DNA origami-AuNPs and it was showed that our carrier system was more suitable for gene delivery compared to the performance of the other tested systems. The silencing rate of DNA origami-AuNPs was 30 per cent better than the liposomal delivery system, DreamFect Gold, 16 per cent better than non-liposomal lipid delivery system, FuGene, and 21 per cent better than a polymer based transfection system, XFect. Besides of being more effective in suppressing target protein expressions, DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures were non-toxic to all types of cells used. However, the commercial reagents were highly adecreased the viability of cell.

It was demonstrated that morpholino embedded DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures are effective gene silencing systems for single and multiple gene regulations. At the same time they are biocompatible structures and stable in blood serum. Although the proposed system has the advantages mentioned above, multi-model systems are required for enhanced treatment efficiency. Substantial exertion has been focused on fabrication of engideered delivery systems for multiple purposes to increase therapeutic effect of molecules. As antracyclines directly intercalate NA molecules, DNA origami structures are perfect candidates for delivery of chemotherapy drugs such as doxorubicin. Thus, DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures can be loaded also with doxorubicin. Furhermore, the nanostructure enables photothermal therapy due to the AuNPs in the structure. For further studies, it is possible to use the DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures as multi-modal-systems for gene silencing, drug delivery and photothermal therapy. In our study, breast cancer releated genes were targeted to knockdown. However, there are many other disorders based on dysregulation of specific genes such as neurodegenerative diseases or infections diseases including Hepatitis-C and HIV. Moreover, a complex disease such as cancer is originated by not only overexpression but also suppression of genes. DNA origami-AuNPs nanostructures provide incorporation of more than one gene regulating elements into the structure. Therefore, different genes can be targeted for different types of diseases and also both upregulation and downregulation of genes can be studied using the proposed nanocarrier. The majority of the transfection reagents form complexes with their NA cargos through electrostatic interactions. However, morpholino antisende oligonucleotides are neutral and difficult to complex with. Thus in vitro delivery of them is very limited. In this study, effective and consistent delivery of morpholinos was demonstrated. There are many other efficient antisense oligonucleotides such as Phosphorothioate oligos and peptide nucleic acids (PNAs). Achiving delivery of these oligonucleotides in a non-toxic and biocompatible way remains a major challenge. One should note that the other types of antisense oligonucleotides rather than morpholinos can also be embedded into the DNA origami-AuNPs for non-toxic delivery. Althouh the prepared nanostructure is biocompatible and stable in blood serum; there are many other challenges for systemic delivery of therapeutic agents. It will be also appropriate to evaluate the nanostructures in in vivo studies.

REFERENCES

- Seeman NC. Construction of three-dimensional stick figures from branched DNA. DNA and Cell Biology. 1991;10(7):475-86.
- Rothemund PW. Folding DNA to create nanoscale shapes and patterns. *Nature*. 2006;440(7082):297-302.
- 3. Bell NA, Engst CR, Ablay M, Divitini G, Ducati C, Liedl T, et al. DNA origami nanopores. *Nano Letters*. 2011;12(1):512-7.
- Slinker JD, Muren NB, Renfrew SE, Barton JK. DNA charge transport over 34 nm. Nature Chemistry. 2011;3(3):228-33.
- 5. Qian L, Winfree E, Bruck J. Neural network computation with DNA strand displacement cascades. *Nature*. 2011;475(7356):368-72.
- Selmi DN, Adamson RJ, Attrill H, Goddard AD, Gilbert RJ, Watts A, et al. DNAtemplated protein arrays for single-molecule imaging. *Nano Letters*. 2011;11(2):657-60.
- Ding B, Deng Z, Yan H, Cabrini S, Zuckermann RN, Bokor J. Gold nanoparticle selfsimilar chain structure organized by DNA origami. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*. 2010;132(10):3248-9.
- Schüller VJ, Heidegger S, Sandholzer N, Nickels PC, Suhartha NA, Endres S, et al. Cellular immunostimulation by CpG-sequence-coated DNA origami structures. ACS Nano. 2011;5(12):9696-702.
- Wang ZG, Liu Q, Li N, Ding B. DNA-based nanotemplate directed in-situ synthesis of silver nanoclusters with specific fluorescent emission: surface-guided chemical reactions. *Chemistry of Materials*. 2016;28(23):8834-41.
- Jiang Q, Song C, Nangreave J, Liu X, Lin L, Qiu D, et al. DNA origami as a carrier for circumvention of drug resistance. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*. 2012;134(32):13396-403.

- Zhao Y-X, Shaw A, Zeng X, Benson E, Nyström AM, Högberg Br. DNA origami delivery system for cancer therapy with tunable release properties. *ACS Nano*. 2012;6(10):8684-91.
- 12. Zhang Q, Jiang Q, Li N, Dai L, Liu Q, Song L, et al. DNA origami as an in vivo drug delivery vehicle for cancer therapy. *ACS Nano*. 2014;8(7):6633-43.
- 13. Akkus SP, Tunc CU, Culha M. Lactose-modified DNA tile nanostructures as drug carriers. *Journal of Drug Targeting*. 2016;24(8):709-19.
- Fakhoury JJ, McLaughlin CK, Edwardson TW, Conway JW, Sleiman HF. Development and characterization of gene silencing DNA cages. *Biomacromolecules*. 2013;15(1):276-82.
- 15. Chen G, Liu D, He C, Gannett TR, Lin W, Weizmann Y. Enzymatic synthesis of periodic DNA nanoribbons for intracellular pH sensing and gene silencing. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*. 2015;137(11):3844-51.
- Lee H, Lytton-Jean AK, Chen Y, Love KT, Park AI, Karagiannis ED, et al. Molecularly self-assembled nucleic acid nanoparticles for targeted in vivo siRNA delivery. *Nature Nanotechnology*. 2012;7(6):389-93.
- Fire A, Xu S, Montgomery MK, Kostas SA, Driver SE, Mello CC. Potent and specific genetic interference by double-stranded RNA in caenorhabditis elegans. *Nature*. 1998;391(6669):806-11.
- Dias N, Stein C. Antisense oligonucleotides: basic concepts and mechanisms. Molecular Cancer Therapeutics. 2002;1(5):347-55.
- 19. Summerton J, Weller D. Morpholino antisense oligomers: design, preparation, and properties. *Antisense and Nucleic Acid Drug Development*. 1997;7(3):187-95.
- Hudziak RM, Barofsky E, Barofsky DF, Weller DL, Huang SB, Weller DD. Resistance of morpholino phosphorodiamidate oligomers to enzymatic degradation. *Antisense and Nucleic Acid Drug Development*. 1996;6(4):267-72.

- 21. Pridgen EM, Langer R, Farokhzad OC. Biodegradable, polymeric nanoparticle delivery systems for cancer therapy. *Nanomedicine*. 2007;2(5):669-80.
- 22. Wang S, Lee RJ, Cauchon G, Gorenstein DG, Low PS. Delivery of antisense oligodeoxyribonucleotides against the human epidermal growth factor receptor into cultured KB cells with liposomes conjugated to folate via polyethylene glycol. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 1995;92(8):3318-22.
- Mehrabadi FS, Fischer W, Haag R. Dendritic and lipid-based carriers for gene/siRNA delivery (a review). *Current Opinion in Solid State and Materials Science*. 2012;16(6):310-22.
- 24. Wang Y, Miao L, Satterlee A, Huang L. Delivery of oligonucleotides with lipid nanoparticles. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*. 2015;87:68-80.
- Sato Y, Sato S, Kikuchi T, Nonaka A, Kumagai Y, Sasaki A, et al. Knockdown of gene expression by antisense morpholino oligos in preimplantation mouse embryos cultured in vitro. *Analytical Biochemistry*. 2016;509:41-5.
- Giljohann DA, Seferos DS, Patel PC, Millstone JE, Rosi NL, Mirkin CA. Oligonucleotide loading determines cellular uptake of DNA-modified gold nanoparticles. *Nano Letters*. 2007;7(12):3818-21.
- Massich MD, Giljohann DA, Schmucker AL, Patel PC, Mirkin CA. Cellular response of polyvalent oligonucleotide– gold nanoparticle conjugates. *ACS Nano*. 2010;4(10):5641-6.
- 28. Alberts B, Johnson A, Lewis J, Raff M, Roberts K, Walter P. *The structure and function of DNA*. 2002.
- 29. Alberts B, Johnson A, Lewis J, Morgan D, Raff M, Roberts K, et al. *Molecular biology of the cell*. 2015.
- 30. Blawat M, Gaedke K, Hütter I, Chen X-M, Turczyk B, Inverso S, et al. Forward error correction for DNA data storage. *Procedia Computer Science*. 2016;80:1011-22.

- Bornholt J, Lopez R, Carmean DM, Ceze L, Seelig G, Strauss K. A DNA-based archival storage system. ACM SIGOPS Operating Systems Review. 2016;50(2):637-49.
- 32. Hesketh EE, Sayir J, Goldman N. Improving communication for interdisciplinary teams working on storage of digital information in DNA. *F1000Research*. 2018;7: 39
- Jones MR, Seeman NC, Mirkin CA. Programmable materials and the nature of the DNA bond. *Science*. 2015;347(6224):1260901.1-1260901.12.
- Niemeyer CM. Self-assembled nanostructures based on DNA: towards the development of nanobiotechnology. *Current Opinion in Chemical Biology*. 2000;4(6):609-18.
- 35. Seeman NC. Nucleic acid junctions and lattices. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*. 1982;99(2):237-47.
- Li X, Yang X, Qi J, Seeman NC. Antiparallel DNA double crossover molecules as components for nanoconstruction. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*. 1996;118(26):6131-40.
- Aldaye FA, Palmer AL, Sleiman HF. Assembling materials with DNA as the guide. Science. 2008;321(5897):1795-9.
- 38. Park SH, Finkelstein G, LaBean TH. Stepwise self-assembly of DNA tile lattices using dsDNA bridges. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*. 2008;130(1):40-1.
- Park SH, Yin P, Liu Y, Reif JH, LaBean TH, Yan H. Programmable DNA selfassemblies for nanoscale organization of ligands and proteins. *Nano Letters*. 2005;5(4):729-33.
- 40. Zhang J, Liu Y, Ke Y, Yan H. Periodic square-like gold nanoparticle arrays templated by self-assembled 2D DNA nanogrids on a surface. *Nano Letters*. 2006;6(2):248-51.
- Mao C, Sun W, Shen Z, Seeman NC. A nanomechanical device based on the B–Z transition of DNA. *Nature*. 1999;397(6715):144-146.

- 42. Lin C, Liu Y, Rinker S, Yan H. DNA tile based self-assembly: building complex nanoarchitectures. *ChemPhysChem*. 2006;7(8):1641-7.
- 43. Zadegan RM, Norton ML. Structural DNA nanotechnology: from design to applications. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*. 2012;13(6):7149-62.
- 44. Yan H, LaBean TH, Feng L, Reif JH. Directed nucleation assembly of DNA tile complexes for barcode-patterned lattices. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 2003;100(14):8103-8.
- 45. Shih WM, Quispe JD, Joyce GF. A 1.7-kilobase single-stranded DNA that folds into a nanoscale octahedron. *Nature*. 2004;427(6975):618.
- 46. Wei B, Dai M, Yin P. Complex shapes self-assembled from single-stranded DNA tiles. *Nature*. 2012;485(7400):623-626.
- 47. Cutler JI, Auyeung E, Mirkin CA. Spherical nucleic acids. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*. 2012;134(3):1376-91.
- Xu X, Rosi NL, Wang Y, Huo F, Mirkin CA. Asymmetric functionalization of gold nanoparticles with oligonucleotides. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*. 2006;128(29):9286-7.
- 49. Millstone JE, Georganopoulou DG, Xu X, Wei W, Li S, Mirkin CA. DNA-gold triangular nanoprism conjugates. *Small*. 2008;4(12):2176-80.
- Wang Y, Wang Y, Breed DR, Manoharan VN, Feng L, Hollingsworth AD, et al. Colloids with valence and specific directional bonding. *Nature*. 2012;491(7422):51-55.
- Jones MR, Macfarlane RJ, Lee B, Zhang J, Young KL, Senesi AJ, et al. DNAnanoparticle superlattices formed from anisotropic building blocks. *Nature Materials*. 2010;9(11):913-917.
- 52. Saccà B, Niemeyer CM. DNA origami: the art of folding DNA. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition*. 2012;51(1):58-66.

- 53. Rothemund PW, Editor design of DNA origami. Computer-Aided Design, 2005 ICCAD-2005 IEEE/ACM International Conference on; 2005: IEEE.
- Han D, Qi X, Myhrvold C, Wang B, Dai M, Jiang S, et al. Single-stranded DNA and RNA origami. *Science*. 2017;358(6369):eaao2648.
- 55. Zadeh JN, Steenberg CD, Bois JS, Wolfe BR, Pierce MB, Khan AR, et al. NUPACK: analysis and design of nucleic acid systems. *Journal of Computational Chemistry*. 2011;32(1):170-3.
- Zuker M. Mfold web server for nucleic acid folding and hybridization prediction. Nucleic Acids Research. 2003;31(13):3406-15.
- Zhu J, Wei B, Yuan Y, Mi Y. UNIQUIMER 3D, a software system for structural DNA nanotechnology design, analysis and evaluation. *Nucleic Acids Research*. 2009;37(7):2164-75.
- Rothemund PW, Papadakis N, Winfree E. Algorithmic self-assembly of DNA sierpinski triangles. *PLoS Biology*. 2004;2(12):e424.
- Douglas SM, Marblestone AH, Teerapittayanon S, Vazquez A, Church GM, Shih WM. Rapid prototyping of 3D DNA-origami shapes with caDNAno. *Nucleic Acids Research*. 2009;37(15):5001-6.
- 60. Madhanagopal BR, Zhang S, Demirel E, Wady H, Chandrasekaran AR. DNA nanocarriers: programmed to deliver. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*. 2018:997-1013.
- Ong LL, Hanikel N, Yaghi OK, Grun C, Strauss MT, Bron P, et al. Programmable self-assembly of three-dimensional nanostructures from 10,000 unique components. *Nature*. 2017;552(7683):72-77.
- 62. Chidchob P, Sleiman HF. Recent advances in DNA nanotechnology. *Current Opinion in Chemical Biology*. 2018;46:63-70.
- Alivisatos AP, Johnsson KP, Peng X, Wilson TE, Loweth CJ, Bruchez Jr MP, et al. Organization of 'nanocrystal molecules' using DNA. *Nature*. 1996;382(6592):609.

- 64. Mirkin CA, Letsinger RL, Mucic RC, Storhoff JJ. A DNA-based method for rationally assembling nanoparticles into macroscopic materials. *Nature*. 1996;382(6592):607.
- 65. Maune HT, Han S-p, Barish RD, Bockrath M, Goddard III WA, Rothemund PW, et al. Self-assembly of carbon nanotubes into two-dimensional geometries using DNA origami templates. *Nature Nanotechnology*. 2010;5(1):61-66.
- 66. Kuzyk A, Yurke B, Toppari JJ, Linko V, Törmä P. Dielectrophoretic trapping of DNA origami. *Small*. 2008;4(4):447-50.
- Pal S, Deng Z, Ding B, Yan H, Liu Y. DNA-origami-directed self-assembly of discrete silver-nanoparticle architectures. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition*. 2010;49(15):2700-4.
- 68. Seeman NC, Sleiman HF. DNA nanotechnology. Nature Reviews Materials. 2017;3:17068.
- 69. Kuzyk A, Laitinen KT, Törmä P. DNA origami as a nanoscale template for protein assembly. *Nanotechnology*. 2009;20(23):235305.1-235305.5.
- Chien MP, Rush AM, Thompson MP, Gianneschi NC. Programmable shape-shifting micelles. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition*. 2010;49(30):5076-80.
- Chidchob P, Edwardson TG, Serpell CJ, Sleiman HF. Synergy of two assembly languages in DNA nanostructures: self-assembly of sequence-defined polymers on DNA cages. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*. 2016;138(13):4416-25.
- 72. List J, Weber M, Simmel FC. Hydrophobic actuation of a DNA origami bilayer structure. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition*. 2014;53(16):4236-9.
- Serpell CJ, Edwardson TG, Chidchob P, Carneiro KM, Sleiman HF. Precision polymers and 3D DNA nanostructures: emergent assemblies from new parameter space. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*. 2014;136(44):15767-74.
- 74. Yoshina-Ishii C, Boxer SG. Arrays of mobile tethered vesicles on supported lipid bilayers. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*. 2003;125(13):3696-7.

- Jakobsen U, Simonsen AC, Vogel S. DNA-controlled assembly of soft nanoparticles. Journal of the American Chemical Society. 2008;130(32):10462-3.
- Zhang G, Farooqui F, Kinstler O, Letsinger RL. Informational liposomes: Complexes derived from cholesteryl-conjugated oligonucleotides and liposomes. *Tetrahedron Letters*. 1996;37(35):6243-6.
- 77. Chan Y-HM, van Lengerich B, Boxer SG. Effects of linker sequences on vesicle fusion mediated by lipid-anchored DNA oligonucleotides. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 2009;pnas:0812356106.
- Chan Y-HM, Lenz P, Boxer SG. Kinetics of DNA-mediated docking reactions between vesicles tethered to supported lipid bilayers. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 2007;104(48):18913-8.
- Stengel G, Simonsson L, Campbell RA, Höök F. Determinants for membrane fusion induced by cholesterol-modified DNA zippers. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry B*. 2008;112(28):8264-74.
- 80. Stengel G, Zahn R, Höök F. DNA-induced programmable fusion of phospholipid vesicles. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*. 2007;129(31):9584-5.
- Lozano MM, Starkel CD, Longo ML. Vesicles tethered to microbubbles by hybridized DNA oligonucleotides: flow cytometry analysis of this new drug delivery vehicle design. *Langmuir*. 2010;26(11):8517-24.
- Banchelli M, Bombelli FB, Berti D, Baglioni P. Soft hybrid nanostructures composed of phospholipid liposomes decorated with oligonucleotides. *Methods in Enzymology*. 2009;464:249-77.
- 83. Chan Y-HM, van Lengerich B, Boxer SG. Lipid-anchored DNA mediates vesicle fusion as observed by lipid and content mixing. *Biointerphases*. 2008;3(2):17-21.
- Yoshina-Ishii C, Miller GP, Kraft ML, Kool ET, Boxer SG. General method for modification of liposomes for encoded assembly on supported bilayers. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*. 2005;127(5):1356-7.

- Dave N, Liu J. Programmable assembly of DNA-functionalized liposomes by DNA. Acs Nano. 2011;5(2):1304-12.
- Yang Y, Wang J, Shigematsu H, Xu W, Shih WM, Rothman JE, et al. Self-assembly of size-controlled liposomes on DNA nanotemplates. *Nature Chemistry*. 2016;8(5):476-483.
- Raschle T, Lin C, Jungmann R, Shih WM, Wagner G. Controlled co-reconstitution of multiple membrane proteins in lipid bilayer nanodiscs using DNA as a scaffold. ACS Chemical Biology. 2015;10(11):2448-54.
- 88. Fu J, Yang YR, Dhakal S, Zhao Z, Liu M, Zhang T, et al. Assembly of multienzyme complexes on DNA nanostructures. *Nature Protocols*. 2016;11(11):2243.
- Orava EW, Cicmil N, Gariépy J. Delivering cargoes into cancer cells using DNA aptamers targeting internalized surface portals. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Biomembranes*. 2010;1798(12):2190-200.
- Lee H, Lytton-Jean AK, Chen Y, Love KT, Park AI, Karagiannis ED, et al. Molecularly self-assembled nucleic acid nanoparticles for targeted in vivo siRNA delivery. *Nature Nanotechnology*. 2012;7(6):389-393.
- 91. Boekhoven J, Stupp SI. 25th anniversary article: supramolecular materials for regenerative medicine. *Advanced Materials*. 2014;26(11):1642-59.
- 92. Stephanopoulos N, Freeman R, North HA, Sur S, Jeong SJ, Tantakitti F, et al. Bioactive DNA-peptide nanotubes enhance the differentiation of neural stem cells into neurons. *Nano Letters*. 2014;15(1):603-9.
- 93. Liu C-J, Wang C-H, Chen S-T, Chen H-H, Leng W-H, Chien C-C, et al. Enhancement of cell radiation sensitivity by pegylated gold nanoparticles. *Physics in Medicine & Biology*. 2010;55(4):931-945.
- 94. Yang X, Stein EW, Ashkenazi S, Wang LV. Nanoparticles for photoacoustic imaging. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Nanomedicine and Nanobiotechnology. 2009;1(4):360-8.

- 95. Kneipp J, Kneipp H, Rice WL, Kneipp K. Optical probes for biological applications based on surface-enhanced Raman scattering from indocyanine green on gold nanoparticles. *Analytical Chemistry*. 2005;77(8):2381-5.
- Mieszawska AJ, Mulder WJ, Fayad ZA, Cormode DP. Multifunctional gold nanoparticles for diagnosis and therapy of disease. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*. 2013;10(3):831-47.
- 97. Daniel M-C, Astruc D. Gold nanoparticles: assembly, supramolecular chemistry, quantum-size-related properties, and applications toward biology, catalysis, and nanotechnology. *Chemical Reviews*. 2004;104(1):293-346.
- Maeda H, Wu J, Sawa T, Matsumura Y, Hori K. Tumor vascular permeability and the EPR effect in macromolecular therapeutics: a review. *Journal of Controlled Release*. 2000;65(1):271-84.
- 99. Tomuleasa C, Soritau O, Orza A, Dudea M, Petrushev B, Mosteanu O, et al. Gold nanoparticles conjugated with cisplatin/doxorubicin/capecitabine lower the chemoresistance of hepatocellular carcinoma-derived cancer cells. *Journal of Gastrointestin Liver Dis*eases 2012;21(2):187-96.
- 100.Duncan B, Kim C, Rotello VM. Gold nanoparticle platforms as drug and biomacromolecule delivery systems. *Journal of Controlled Release*. 2010;148(1):122-7.
- 101.Huschka R, Barhoumi A, Liu Q, Roth JA, Ji L, Halas NJ. Gene silencing by gold nanoshell-mediated delivery and laser-triggered release of antisense oligonucleotide and siRNA. *Acs Nano*. 2012;6(9):7681-91.
- 102.Braun GB, Pallaoro A, Wu G, Missirlis D, Zasadzinski JA, Tirrell M, et al. Laseractivated gene silencing via gold nanoshell- siRNA conjugates. Acs Nano. 2009;3(7):2007-15.
- 103.Conde J, Ambrosone A, Sanz V, Hernandez Y, Marchesano V, Tian F, et al. Design of multifunctional gold nanoparticles for in vitro and in vivo gene silencing. *Acs Nano*. 2012;6(9):8316-24.

- 104.Bonoiu AC, Mahajan SD, Ding H, Roy I, Yong K-T, Kumar R, et al. Nanotechnology approach for drug addiction therapy: gene silencing using delivery of gold nanorodsiRNA nanoplex in dopaminergic neurons. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 2009;106(14):5546-50.
- 105.Khvorova A, Reynolds A, Jayasena SD. Functional siRNAs and miRNAs exhibit strand bias. *Cell*. 2003;115(2):209-16.
- 106.Watts JK, Corey DR. Silencing disease genes in the laboratory and the clinic. *The Journal of Pathology*. 2012;226(2):365-79.
- 107.Miller PS, Yano J, Yano E, Carroll C, Jayaraman K, Ts'o PO. Nonionic nucleic acid analogs. Synthesis and characterization of dideoxyribonucleoside methylphosphonates. *Biochemistry*. 1979;18(23):5134-43.
- 108.Zamecnik PC, Stephenson ML. Inhibition of Rous sarcoma virus replication and cell transformation by a specific oligodeoxynucleotide. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 1978;75(1):280-4.
- 109.Summerton J, Bartlett PA. Sequence-specific crosslinking agents for nucleic acids: Use of 6-bromo-5, 5-dimethoxyhexanohydrazide for crosslinking cytidine to guanosine and crosslinking RNA to complementary sequences of DNA. *Journal of Molecular Biology*. 1978;122(2):145-62.
- 110.Summerton J. Intracellular inactivation of specific nucleotide sequences: a general approach to the treatment of viral diseases and virally-mediated cancers. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*. 1979;78(1):77-99.
- 111.Summerton JE. Morpholino, siRNA, and S-DNA compared: impact of structure and mechanism of action on off-target effects and sequence specificity. *Current topics In Medicinal Chemistry*. 2007;7(7):651-60.
- 112.Orr R. Technology evaluation: fomivirsen, isis pharmaceuticals inc/ciba vision. *Current Opinion in Molecular Therapeutics*. 2001;3(3):288-94.
- 113.Agrawal S, Kandimalla ER. Antisense therapeutics: is it as simple as complementary base recognition? *Molecular Medicine Today*. 2000;6(2):72-81.

- 114.Larrouy B, Blonski C, Boiziau C, Stuer M, Moreau S, Shire D, et al. RNase Hmediated inhibition of translation by antisense oligodeoxyribo-nucleotides: use of backbone modification to improve specificity. *Gene*. 1992;121(2):189-94.
- 115.Klee EW, Shim KJ, Pickart MA, Ekker SC, Ellis LB. AMOD: a morpholino oligonucleotide selection tool. *Nucleic Acids Research*. 2005;33(suppl 2):W506-W11.
- 116.Corey DR, Abrams JM. Morpholino antisense oligonucleotides: tools for investigating vertebrate development. *Genome Biol.* 2001;2(5):1015.1-1015.3.
- 117.Williams B. Role of the double-stranded RNA-activated protein kinase (PKR) in cell regulation. *Biochemical Society Transsctions*. 1997;25(2):509-513.
- 118.Chi J-T, Chang HY, Wang NN, Chang DS, Dunphy N, Brown PO. Genomewide view of gene silencing by small interfering RNAs. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 2003;100(11):6343-6.
- 119.Fisher AA, Ye D, Sergueev DS, Fisher MH, Shaw BR, Juliano RL. Evaluating the specificity of antisense oligonucleotide conjugates a DNA array analysis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 2002;277(25):22980-4.
- 120.Heasman J. Morpholino oligos: making sense of antisense? *Developmental Biology*. 2002;243(2):209-14.
- 121.Bill BR, Petzold AM, Clark KJ, Schimmenti LA, Ekker SC. A primer for morpholino use in zebrafish. *Zebrafish*. 2009;6(1):69-77.
- 122.Moulton JD, Yan YL. Using morpholinos to control gene expression. *Current Protocols in Nucleic Acid Chemistry*. 2017:68(1):4.30.1-4.30.29.
- 123.de Fougerolles A, Vornlocher H-P, Maraganore J, Lieberman J. Interfering with disease: a progress report on siRNA-based therapeutics. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*. 2007;6(6):443-453.
- 124.Juliano R, Alam MR, Dixit V, Kang H. Mechanisms and strategies for effective delivery of antisense and siRNA oligonucleotides. *Nucleic Acids Research*. 2008;36(12):4158-71.

- 125.Boussif O, Lezoualc'h F, Zanta MA, Mergny MD, Scherman D, Demeneix B, et al. A versatile vector for gene and oligonucleotide transfer into cells in culture and in vivo: polyethylenimine. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 1995;92(16):7297-301.
- 126.Lv H, Zhang S, Wang B, Cui S, Yan J. Toxicity of cationic lipids and cationic polymers in gene delivery. *Journal of Controlled Release*. 2006;114(1):100-9.
- 127.Pridgen EM, Langer R, Farokhzad OC. Biodegradable, polymeric nanoparticle delivery systems for cancer therapy. *Future Medicine*. 2007;2(5):669-680.
- 128. Chin DJ, Green GA, Zon G, Szoka Jr F, Straubinger R. Rapid nuclear accumulation of injected oligodeoxyribonucleotides. *New Biol.* 1990;2(12):1091-100.
- 129.Jaafar-Maalej C, Elaissari A, Fessi H. Lipid-based carriers: manufacturing and applications for pulmonary route. *Expert Opinion on Drug Delivery*. 2012;9(9):1111-27.
- 130.Torchilin VP. Recent advances with liposomes as pharmaceutical carriers. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*. 2005;4(2):145-60.
- 131.Karmali PP, Chaudhuri A. Cationic liposomes as non-viral carriers of gene medicines: resolved issues, open questions, and future promises. *Medicinal Research Reviews*. 2007;27(5):696-722.
- 132.Unciti-Broceta A, Bacon MN, Bradley M. Strategies for the preparation of synthetic transfection vectors. *Nucleic Acid Transfection*: Springer; 2010:15-49.
- 133.Balazs DA, Godbey W. Liposomes for use in gene delivery. *Journal of Drug Delivery*. 2010;2011:326497.1-326497.12..
- 134.Zuhorn IS, Kalicharan R, Hoekstra D. Lipoplex-mediated transfection of mammalian cells occurs through the cholesterol-dependent clathrin-mediated pathway of endocytosis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 2002;277(20):18021-8.

- 135.Zuhorn I, Hoekstra D. On the mechanism of cationic amphiphile-mediated transfection. To fuse or not to fuse: is that the question? *Journal of Membrane Biology*. 2002;189(3):167-79.
- 136.Dass CR. Liposome-mediated delivery of oligodeoxynucleotides in vivo. *Drug Delivery*. 2002;9(3):169-80.
- 137.Mönkkönen J, Valjakka R, Hakasalo M, Urtti A. The effects of liposome surface charge and size on the intracellular delivery of clodronate and gallium in vitro. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*. 1994;107(3):189-97.
- 138.Palliser D, Chowdhury D, Wang Q-Y, Lee SJ, Bronson RT, Knipe DM, et al. An siRNA-based microbicide protects mice from lethal herpes simplex virus 2 infection. *Nature*. 2006;439(7072):89-94.
- 139.Sørensen DR, Leirdal M, Sioud M. Gene silencing by systemic delivery of synthetic siRNAs in adult mice. *Journal of Molecular Biology*. 2003;327(4):761-6.
- 140.Ma Z, Li J, He F, Wilson A, Pitt B, Li S. Cationic lipids enhance siRNA-mediated interferon response in mice. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*. 2005;330(3):755-9.
- 141.Li K, Zhou ZY, Ji PP, Luo HS. Knockdown of β-catenin by siRNA influences proliferation, apoptosis and invasion of the colon cancer cell line SW480. Oncology Letters. 2016;11(6):3896-900.
- 142.Ewert KK, Zidovska A, Ahmad A, Bouxsein NF, Evans HM, McAllister CS, et al. Cationic liposome–nucleic acid complexes for gene delivery and silencing: pathways and mechanisms for plasmid DNA and siRNA. *Nucleic Acid Transfection*: Springer; 2010:191-226.
- 143.Sato A, Takagi M, Shimamoto A, Kawakami S, Hashida M. Small interfering RNA delivery to the liver by intravenous administration of galactosylated cationic liposomes in mice. *Biomaterials*. 2007;28(7):1434-42.
- 144.Anselmo AC, Mitragotri S. Nanoparticles in the clinic. *Bioengineering & Translational Medicine*. 2016;1(1):10-29.

- 145.Rosi NL, Giljohann DA, Thaxton CS, Lytton-Jean AK, Han MS, Mirkin CA. Oligonucleotide-modified gold nanoparticles for intracellular gene regulation. *Science*. 2006;312(5776):1027-30.
- 146.Lee SK, Han MS, Asokan S, Tung CH. Effective gene silencing by multilayered siRNA-coated gold nanoparticles. *Small*. 2011;7(3):364-70.
- 147.Lee Y, Lee SH, Kim JS, Maruyama A, Chen X, Park TG. Controlled synthesis of PEIcoated gold nanoparticles using reductive catechol chemistry for siRNA delivery. *Journal of Controlled Release*. 2011;155(1):3-10.
- 148.Lee J-S, Green JJ, Love KT, Sunshine J, Langer R, Anderson DG. Gold, poly (βamino ester) nanoparticles for small interfering RNA delivery. *Nano Letters*. 2009;9(6):2402-6.
- 149.Song WJ, Du JZ, Sun TM, Zhang PZ, Wang J. Gold nanoparticles capped with polyethyleneimine for enhanced siRNA delivery. *Small*. 2010;6(2):239-46.
- 150.Kumar A, Ma H, Zhang X, Huang K, Jin S, Liu J, et al. Gold nanoparticles functionalized with therapeutic and targeted peptides for cancer treatment. *Biomaterials*. 2012;33(4):1180-9.
- 151.Patel S, Jung D, Yin PT, Carlton P, Yamamoto M, Bando T, et al. NanoScript: A nanoparticle-based artificial transcription factor for effective gene regulation. ACS Nano. 2014;8(9):8959-67.
- 152.Giljohann DA, Seferos DS, Prigodich AE, Patel PC, Mirkin CA. Gene regulation with polyvalent siRNA- nanoparticle conjugates. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*. 2009;131(6):2072-3.
- 153.Chan WC, Maxwell DJ, Gao X, Bailey RE, Han M, Nie S. Luminescent quantum dots for multiplexed biological detection and imaging. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology*. 2002;13(1):40-6.
- 154.Yezhelyev MV, Qi L, O'Regan RM, Nie S, Gao X. Proton-sponge coated quantum dots for siRNA delivery and intracellular imaging. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*. 2008;130(28):9006-12.

- 155.Derfus AM, Chen AA, Min D-H, Ruoslahti E, Bhatia SN. Targeted quantum dot conjugates for siRNA delivery. *Bioconjugate Chemistry*. 2007;18(5):1391-6.
- 156.Bonoiu A, Mahajan SD, Ye L, Kumar R, Ding H, Yong K-T, et al. MMP-9 gene silencing by a quantum dot–siRNA nanoplex delivery to maintain the integrity of the blood brain barrier. *Brain Research*. 2009;1282:142-55.
- 157.Medarova Z, Pham W, Farrar C, Petkova V, Moore A. In vivo imaging of siRNA delivery and silencing in tumors. *Nature Medicine*. 2007;13(3):372-7.
- 158.Jiang S, Eltoukhy AA, Love KT, Langer R, Anderson DG. Lipidoid-coated iron oxide nanoparticles for efficient DNA and siRNA delivery. *Nano Letters*. 2013;13(3):1059-64.
- 159.Hom C, Lu J, Tamanoi F. Silica nanoparticles as a delivery system for nucleic acidbased reagents. *Journal of Materials Chemistry*. 2009;19(35):6308-16.
- 160.Hom C, Lu J, Liong M, Luo H, Li Z, Zink JI, et al. Mesoporous silica nanoparticles facilitate delivery of siRNA to shutdown signaling pathways in mammalian cells. *Small*. 2010;6(11):1185-90.
- 161.Chen AM, Zhang M, Wei D, Stueber D, Taratula O, Minko T, et al. Co-delivery of doxorubicin and Bcl-2 siRNA by mesoporous silica nanoparticles enhances the efficacy of chemotherapy in multidrug-resistant cancer cells. *Small*. 2009;5(23):2673-7.
- 162.Bartholomeusz G, Cherukuri P, Kingston J, Cognet L, Lemos Jr R, Leeuw TK, et al. In vivo therapeutic silencing of hypoxia-inducible factor 1 alpha (HIF-1α) using single-walled carbon nanotubes noncovalently coated with siRNA. *Nano Research*. 2009;2(4):279-91.
- 163.Kim S, Ryoo S-R, Na H-K, Kim Y-K, Choi B-S, Lee Y, et al. Deoxyribozyme-loaded nano-graphene oxide for simultaneous sensing and silencing of the hepatitis C virus gene in liver cells. *Chemical Communications*. 2013;49(74):8241-3.

- 164.Felgner PL, Gadek TR, Holm M, Roman R, Chan HW, Wenz M, et al. Lipofection: a highly efficient, lipid-mediated DNA-transfection procedure. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 1987;84(21):7413-7.
- 165.Simberg D, Hirsch-Lerner D, Nissim R, Barenholz Y. Comparison of different commercially available cationic lipid-based transfection kits. *Journal of Liposome Research*. 2000;10(1):1-13.
- 166.Wolff JA, Malone RW, Williams P, Chong W, Acsadi G, Jani A, et al. Direct gene transfer into mouse muscle in vivo. *Science*. 1990;247(4949):1465-8.
- 167.Malone RW, Felgner PL, Verma IM. Cationic liposome-mediated RNA transfection. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 1989;86(16):6077-81.
- 168.Dalby B, Cates S, Harris A, Ohki EC, Tilkins ML, Price PJ, et al. Advanced transfection with Lipofectamine 2000 reagent: primary neurons, siRNA, and high-throughput applications. *Methods*. 2004;33(2):95-103.
- 169.Byk T, Haddada H, Vainchenker W, Louache F. Lipofectamine and related cationic lipids strongly improve adenoviral infection efficiency of primitive human hematopoietic cells. *Human Gene Therapy*. 1998;9(17):2493-502.
- 170.Mykhaylyk O, Sánchez-Antequera Y, Vlaskou D, Hammerschmid E, Anton M, Zelphati O, et al. Liposomal magnetofection. *Liposomes*: Springer; 2010: 487-525.
- 171.Czugala M, Mykhaylyk O, Böhler P, Onderka J, Stork B, Wesselborg S, et al. Efficient and safe gene delivery to human corneal endothelium using magnetic nanoparticles. *Nanomedicine*. 2016;11(14):1787-800.
- 172.Lee M, Chea K, Pyda R, Chua M, Dominguez I. Comparative analysis of non-viral transfection methods in mouse embryonic fibroblast cells. *Journal of Biomolecular Techniques: JBT*. 2017;28(2):67-74.
- 173.Morikawa Y, Komori T, Hisaoka T, Senba E. Detailed expression pattern of Foxp1 and its possible roles in neurons of the spinal cord during embryogenesis. *Developmental Neuroscience*. 2009;31(6):511-22.

- 174.Wang T, Larcher L, Ma L, Veedu R. Systematic screening of commonly used commercial transfection reagents towards efficient transfection of single-stranded oligonucleotides. *Molecules*. 2018;23(10):2564-2581.
- 175.Yamano S, Dai J, Moursi AM. Comparison of transfection efficiency of nonviral gene transfer reagents. *Molecular Biotechnology*. 2010;46(3):287-300.
- 176.Heiligenstein S, Cucchiarini M, Laschke MW, Bohle RM, Kohn D, Menger MD, et al. Evaluation of nonbiomedical and biomedical grade alginates for the transplantation of genetically modified articular chondrocytes to cartilage defects in a large animal model in vivo. *The Journal of Gene Medicine*. 2011;13(4):230-42.
- 177.Hunt MA, Currie MJ, Robinson BA, Dachs GU. Optimizing transfection of primary human umbilical vein endothelial cells using commercially available chemical transfection reagents. *Journal of Biomolecular Techniques: JBT*. 2010;21(2):66.
- 178.Breunig M, Lungwitz U, Liebl R, Goepferich A. Breaking up the correlation between efficacy and toxicity for nonviral gene delivery. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 2007;104(36):14454-9.
- 179.Aied A, Greiser U, Pandit A, Wang W. Polymer gene delivery: overcoming the obstacles. *Drug Discovery Today*. 2013;18(21-22):1090-8.
- 180.Akinc A, Thomas M, Klibanov AM, Langer R. Exploring polyethylenimine-mediated DNA transfection and the proton sponge hypothesis. *The Journal of Gene Medicine*. 2005;7(5):657-63.
- 181.Mintzer MA, Simanek EE. Nonviral vectors for gene delivery. *Chemical Reviews*. 2008;109(2):259-302.
- 182.Tsai L-R, Chen M-H, Chien C-T, Chen M-K, Lin F-S, Lin KM-C, et al. A singlemonomer derived linear-like PEI-co-PEG for siRNA delivery and silencing. *Biomaterials*. 2011;32(14):3647-53.
- 183.Samal SK, Dash M, Van Vlierberghe S, Kaplan DL, Chiellini E, Van Blitterswijk C, et al. Cationic polymers and their therapeutic potential. *Chemical Society Reviews*. 2012;41(21):7147-94.

- 184.Park TG, Jeong JH, Kim SW. Current status of polymeric gene delivery systems. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*. 2006;58(4):467-86.
- 185.Neu M, Fischer D, Kissel T. Recent advances in rational gene transfer vector design based on poly (ethylene imine) and its derivatives. *The Journal of Gene Medicine: A Cross-Disciplinary Journal for Research on The Science of Gene Transfer and Its Clinical Applications*. 2005;7(8):992-1009.
- 186.Dubruel P, Schacht E. Vinyl polymers as non-viral gene delivery carriers: current status and prospects. *Macromolecular Bioscience*. 2006;6(10):789-810.
- 187.van de Wetering P, Moret EE, Schuurmans-Nieuwenbroek NM, van Steenbergen MJ, Hennink WE. Structure – activity relationships of water-soluble cationic methacrylate/methacrylamide polymers for nonviral gene delivery. *Bioconjugate Chemistry*. 1999;10(4):589-97.
- 188.Putnam D. Polymers for gene delivery across length scales. Nature Materials. 2006;5(6):439-451.
- 189.Rider L, Shatrova A, Feener EP, Webb L, Diakonova M. JAK2 tyrosine kinase phosphorylates PAK1 and regulates PAK1 activity and functions. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 2007;282(42):30985-96.
- 190.Qin Z. The use of THP-1 cells as a model for mimicking the function and regulation of monocytes and macrophages in the vasculature. *Atherosclerosis*. 2012;221(1):2-11.
- 191.Zhu X, Quan S, Zeng Y, Huang Y, Sun R, Lu K, et al. Efficient establishment of Guangxi Bama mini-pig transgenic fibroblasts via Xfect polymer transfection. *Romanian Biotechnology Letters* 2014;19:9883-90.
- 192.Zhao X, Komatsu DE, Hadjiargyrou M. Delivery of rhBMP-2 plasmid DNA complexes via a PLLA/collagen electrospun scaffold induces ectopic bone formation. *Journal of Biomedical Nanotechnology*. 2016;12(6):1285-96.
- 193.Kyoung M, Russell SJ, Kohnhorst CL, Esemoto NN, An S. Dynamic architecture of the purinosome involved in human de novo purine biosynthesis. *Biochemistry*. 2015;54(3):870-80.

- 194.Liu Y-W, Chen C-C, Tseng H-P, Chang W-C. Lipopolysaccharide-induced transcriptional activation of interleukin-10 is mediated by MAPK-and NF-κB-induced CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein δ in mouse macrophages. *Cellular Signalling*. 2006;18(9):1492-500.
- 195.Tamm C, Kadekar S, Pijuan-Galitó S, Annerén C. Fast and efficient transfection of mouse embryonic stem cells using non-viral reagents. *Stem Cell Reviews and Reports*. 2016;12(5):584-91.
- 196.Yates A. A Review of the Department of Defense's Program for Breast Cancer Research. Washington DC: National Academies Press; 1997.
- 197.Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians*. 2018;68:394-424.
- 198.Türkiye Kanser İstatistikleri 2015: T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı Halk Sağlığı Genel Müdürlüğü; [cited 2018 October 20]. Available from: https://hsgm.saglik.gov.tr/depo/birimler/kanser_db/istatistik/Turkiye_Kanser_Istatistik leri_2015.pdf
- 199.Garay JP, Park BH. Androgen receptor as a targeted therapy for breast cancer. American Journal of Cancer Research. 2012;2(4):434-445.
- 200.Subik K, Lee J-F, Baxter L, Strzepek T, Costello D, Crowley P, et al. The expression patterns of ER, PR, HER2, CK5/6, EGFR, Ki-67 and AR by immunohistochemical analysis in breast cancer cell lines. *Breast Cancer: Basic and Clinical Research*. 2010;4:117822341000400004.
- 201.Ha S-A, Lee YS, Shin SM, Kim HK, Kim S, Namkoong H, et al. Oncoprotein HCCR-1 expression in breast cancer is well correlated with known breast cancer prognostic factors including the HER2 overexpression, p53 mutation, and ER/PR status. *BMC Cancer*. 2009;9(1):51-57.
- 202.Hudis CA. Trastuzumab—mechanism of action and use in clinical practice. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 2007;357(1):39-51.

- 203.Harari D, Yarden Y. Molecular mechanisms underlying ErbB2/HER2 action in breast cancer. *Oncogene*. 2000;19(53):6102-14.
- 204.Tseng P-H, Wang Y-C, Weng S-C, Weng J-R, Chen C-S, Brueggemeier RW, et al. Overcoming trastuzumab resistance in HER2-overexpressing breast cancer cells by using a novel celecoxib-derived phosphoinositide-dependent kinase-1 inhibitor. *Molecular Pharmacology*. 2006;70(5):1534-41.
- 205.Phillips GDL, Li G, Dugger DL, Crocker LM, Parsons KL, Mai E, et al. Targeting HER2-positive breast cancer with trastuzumab-DM1, an antibody–cytotoxic drug conjugate. *Cancer Research*. 2008;68(22):9280-90.
- 206.Inoue S, Ding H, Portilla-Arias J, Hu J, Konda B, Fujita M, et al. Polymalic acidbased nanobiopolymer provides efficient systemic breast cancer treatment by inhibiting both HER2/neu receptor synthesis and activity. *Cancer Research*. 2011;71(4):1454-64.
- 207.Faltus T, Yuan J, Zimmer B, Kramer A, Loibl S, Kaufmann M, et al. Silencing of the HER2/neu gene by sirna inhibits proliferation and induces apoptosis in HER2/neuoverexpressing breast cancer cells. *Neoplasia*. 2004;6(6):786-95.
- 208.Akimov I, Chernolovskaya E, Spitsyna YE, Ryabchikova E, Zenkova M. Silencing of Her2, CCNB1 and PKC genes by siRNA results in prolonged retardation of neuroblastoma cell division. *Acta Naturae*. 2011;3(3):29-39.
- 209.Dowsett M, Smith IE, Ebbs SR, Dixon JM, Skene A, A'hern R, et al. Prognostic value of Ki67 expression after short-term presurgical endocrine therapy for primary breast cancer. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*. 2007;99(2):167-70.
- 210.Zheng JN, Sun YF, Pei DS, Liu JJ, Ma TX, Han R-F, et al. Treatment with vectorexpressed small hairpin RNAs against Ki67 RNA-induced cell growth inhibition and apoptosis in human renal carcinoma cells. *Acta Biochimica et Biophysica Sinica*. 2006;38(4):254-61.
- 211.Zheng J, Pei D, Mao L, Liu X, Mei D, Zhang B, et al. Inhibition of renal cancer cell growth in vitro and in vivo with oncolytic adenovirus armed short hairpin RNA targeting Ki-67 encoding mRNA. *Cancer Gene Therapy*. 2009;16(1):20-32.
- 212.Cohen S, Ushiro H, Stoscheck C, Chinkers M. A native 170,000 epidermal growth factor receptor-kinase complex from shed plasma membrane vesicles. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 1982;257(3):1523-31.
- 213.McCune B, Earp H. The epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase in liver epithelial cells. The effect of ligand-dependent changes in cellular location. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 1989;264(26):15501-7.
- 214. Wang K, Yamamoto H, Chin JR, Werb Z, Vu TH. Epidermal growth factor receptordeficient mice have delayed primary endochondral ossification because of defective osteoclast recruitment. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 2004;279(51):53848-56.
- 215.Burness, ML, Grushko, TA, Olopade, OI. Epidermal growth factor receptor in triplenegative and basal-like breast cancer: promising clinical target or only a marker?. *The Cancer Journal*. 2010;16(1):23-32.
- 216.Masuda H, Zhang D, Bartholomeusz C, Doihara H, Hortobagyi GN, Ueno NT. Role of epidermal growth factor receptor in breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Research And Treatment*. 2012;136(2):331-45.
- 217.Gustafsson JÅ. What pharmacologists can learn from recent advances in estrogen signalling. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*. 2003;24(9):479-85.
- 218.Ascenzi P, Bocedi A, Marino M. Structure–function relationship of estrogen receptor α and β: impact on human health. *Molecular Aspects of Medicine*. 2006;27(4):299-402.
- 219.Heldring N, Pike A, Andersson S, Matthews J, Cheng G, Hartman J, et al. Estrogen receptors: how do they signal and what are their targets. *Physiological Reviews*. 2007;87(3):905-31.
- 220.Jensen EV. On the mechanism of estrogen action. *Perspectives in Biology and Medicine*. 1962;6(1):47-60.

- 221.Anderson E. Progesterone receptors-animal models and cell signaling in breast cancer: The role of oestrogen and progesterone receptors in human mammary development and tumorigenesis. *Breast Cancer Research*. 2002;4(5):197-201.
- 222.Ali S, Coombes RC. Estrogen receptor alpha in human breast cancer: occurrence and significance. *Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia*. 2000;5(3):271-81.
- 223.Liao XH, Lu DL, Wang N, Liu LY, Wang Y, Li YQ, et al. Estrogen receptor α mediates proliferation of breast cancer MCF–7 cells via a p21/PCNA/E2F1-dependent pathway. *The FEBSJjournal*. 2014;281(3):927-42.
- 224.Salami S, Karami-Tehrani F. Biochemical studies of apoptosis induced by tamoxifen in estrogen receptor positive and negative breast cancer cell lines. *Clinical Biochemistry*. 2003;36(4):247-53.
- 225.Luqmani Y, Al Azmi A, Al Bader M, Abraham G, El Zawahri M. Modification of gene expression induced by siRNA targeting of estrogen receptor α in MCF7 human breast cancer cells. *International Journal of Oncology*. 2009;34(1):231-42.
- 226.Fu HJ, Jia LT, Bao W, Zhao J, Meng YL, Wang CJ, et al. Stable knockdown of estrogen receptor α by vector-based RNA interference suppresses proliferation and enhances apoptosis in breast cancer cells. *Cancer Biology & Therapy*. 2006;5(7):842-7.
- 227.Akkus Sut P, Tunc CU, Culha M. Lactose-modified DNA tile nanostructures as drug carriers. *Journal of Drug Targeting*. 2016;24(8):709-719.
- 228. Turkevich J, Stevenson PC, Hillier J. A study of the nucleation and growth processes in the synthesis of colloidal gold. *Discussions of the Faraday Society*. 1951;11:55-75.
- 229.Kimling J, Maier M, Okenve B, Kotaidis V, Ballot H, Plech A. Turkevich method for gold nanoparticle synthesis revisited. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry B*. 2006;110(32):15700-7.
- 230.Bradford MM. A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. *Analytical Biochemistry*. 1976;72(1-2):248-54.

- 231.Summerton JE. Morpholinos and PNAs compared. *Peptide Nucleic Acids, Morpholinos and Related Antisense Biomolecules*. 2006:89-113.
- 232.Haiss W, Thanh NT, Aveyard J, Fernig DG. Determination of size and concentration of gold nanoparticles from UV- Vis spectra. *Analytical Chemistry*. 2007;79(11):4215-21.
- 233.Rosi NL, Mirkin CA. Nanostructures in biodiagnostics. *Chemical Reviews*. 2005;105(4):1547-62.
- 234. Amendola V, Meneghetti M. Size evaluation of gold nanoparticles by UV- vis spectroscopy. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry C*. 2009;113(11):4277-85.
- 235.Jans H, Liu X, Austin L, Maes G, Huo Q. Dynamic light scattering as a powerful tool for gold nanoparticle bioconjugation and biomolecular binding studies. *Analytical Chemistry*. 2009;81(22):9425-32.
- 236.Leong K, Mao H-Q, Truong-Le V, Roy K, Walsh S, August J. DNA-polycation nanospheres as non-viral gene delivery vehicles. *Journal of Controlled Release*. 1998;53(1-3):183-93.
- 237.Subik K, Lee J-F, Baxter L, Strzepek T, Costello D, Crowley P, et al. The expression patterns of ER, PR, HER2, CK5/6, EGFR, Ki-67 and AR by immunohistochemical analysis in breast cancer cell lines. *Breast Cancer: Basic And Clinical Research*. 2010;4:35-41.
- 238. Walsh AS, Yin H, Erben CM, Wood MJ, Turberfield AJ. DNA cage delivery to mammalian cells. *ACS Nano*. 2011;5(7):5427-32.
- 239.Kim K-R, Kim D-R, Lee T, Yhee JY, Kim B-S, Kwon IC, et al. Drug delivery by a self-assembled DNA tetrahedron for overcoming drug resistance in breast cancer cells. *Chemical Communications*. 2013;49(20):2010-2.
- 240.Liang L, Li J, Li Q, Huang Q, Shi J, Yan H, et al. Single-particle tracking and modulation of cell entry pathways of a tetrahedral DNA nanostructure in live cells. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition*. 2014;53(30):7745-50.

- 241. Choi CHJ, Hao L, Narayan SP, Auyeung E, Mirkin CA. Mechanism for the endocytosis of spherical nucleic acid nanoparticle conjugates. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 2013:201305804.
- 242.Uhlmann E, Peyman A. Antisense oligonucleotides: a new therapeutic principle. *Chemical Reviews*. 1990;90(4):543-84.
- 243.Klijin J. Clinical parameters and symptoms for the progression to endocrine independence of breast cancer. *Mechanisms Of Progression To Hormone-Independent Growth Of Breast And Prostatic Cancer Carnfoth: The Parthenon Publishing Group*. 1991:11-9.
- 244.Dickson RB, Lippman ME. Growth factors in breast cancer. *Endocrine Reviews*. 1995;16(5):559-89.
- 245.Clarke R, Leonessa F, Welch JN, Skaar TC. Cellular and molecular pharmacology of antiestrogen action and resistance. *Pharmacological Reviews*. 2001;53(1):25-72.
- 246.Lippman M, Bolan G, Huff K. The effects of estrogens and antiestrogens on hormoneresponsive human breast cancer in long-term tissue culture. *Cancer Research*. 1976;36(12):4595-601.
- 247.Wolff AC, Hammond MEH, Schwartz JN, Hagerty KL, Allred DC, Cote RJ, et al. American society of clinical oncology/college of american pathologists guideline recommendations for human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 testing in breast cancer. *Archives of Pathology & Laboratory Medicine*. 2007;131(1):18-43.
- 248.Yarden Y. Biology of HER2 and its importance in breast cancer. *Oncology*. 2001;61(Suppl. 2):1-13.
- 249. Hynes NE, Lane HA. ERBB receptors and cancer: the complexity of targeted inhibitors. *Nature Reviews Cancer*. 2005;5(5):341-354.
- 250.Yan J, Liu X-L, Han L-Z, Xiao G, Li N-L, Deng Y-N, et al. Relation between Ki-67, ER, PR, Her2/neu, p21, EGFR, and TOP II-α expression in invasive ductal breast cancer patients and correlations with prognosis. *Asian Pacific Journal of Cancer Preention.* 2015;16(2):823-9.

251.Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell. 2000;100(1):57-70.

- 252.Pathmanathan N, Balleine RL. Ki67 and proliferation in breast cancer. *Journal of Clinical Pathology*. 2013;66(6):512-6.
- 253.Wang R, Luo D, Ma X, Yang W, Chen R, Liu Y, et al. Antisense Ki-67 cDNA transfection reverses the tumorigenicity and induces apoptosis in human breast cancer cells. *Cancer Investigation*. 2008;26(8):830-5.
- 254.Zheng J-N, Ma T-X, Cao J-Y, Sun X-Q, Chen J-C, Li W, et al. Knockdown of Ki-67 by small interfering RNA leads to inhibition of proliferation and induction of apoptosis in human renal carcinoma cells. *Life Sciences*. 2006;78(7):724-9.
- 255.Faltus T, Yuan J, Zimmer B, Kramer A, Loibl S, Kaufmann M, et al. Silencing of the HER2/neu gene by siRNA inhibits proliferation and induces apoptosis in HER2/neuoverexpressing breast cancer cells. *Neoplasia*. 2004;6(6):786-95.
- 256.Liao XH, Lu DL, Wang N, Liu LY, Wang Y, Li YQ, et al. Estrogen receptor α mediates proliferation of breast cancer MCF–7 cells via a p21/PCNA/E2F1-dependent pathway. *FEBS Journal*. 2014;281(3):927-42.
- 257.Prall OW, Rogan EM, Sutherland RL. Estrogen regulation of cell cycle progression in breast cancer cells1. *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*. 1998;65(1-6):169-74.
- 258.Leung BS, Potter AH. Mode of estrogen action on cell proliferation in CAMA-1 cells:
 II. sensitivity of G1 phase population. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*. 1987;34(3):213-25.
- 259.Sutherland RL, Reddel RR, Green MD. Effects of oestrogens on cell proliferation and cell cycle kinetics. A hypothesis on the cell cycle effects of antioestrogens. *European Journal of Cancer.* 1983;19(3):307-18.
- 260.Szelachowska J, Dziegiel P, Tarkowski R, Gomulkiewicz A, Bebenek M, Halon A, et al. Therapeutic radiation induces different changes in expression profiles of metallothionein (MT) mRNA, MT protein, Ki 67 and minichromosome maintenance protein 3 in human rectal adenocarcinoma. *Anticancer Research*. 2012;32(12):5291-7.

- 261.Gerdes J, Lemke H, Baisch H, Wacker H-H, Schwab U, Stein H. Cell cycle analysis of a cell proliferation-associated human nuclear antigen defined by the monoclonal antibody Ki-67. *The Journal of Immunology*. 1984;133(4):1710-5.
- 262.Castanotto D, Rossi JJ. The promises and pitfalls of RNA-interference-based therapeutics. *Nature*. 2009;457(7228):426-433.
- 263.Wang XH, Liu MN, Huang P, Xu J, Liu AY, Chen J, et al. Simultaneous silencing of β-catenin and signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 synergistically induces apoptosis and inhibits cell proliferation in HepG2 liver cancer cells. *Molecular Medicine Reports*. 2015;12(2):2263-8.
- 264.Grimm D. All for one, one for all: new combinatorial RNAi therapies combat hepatitis C virus evolution. *Molecular Therapy*. 2012;20(9):1661-3.
- 265.Spanevello F, Calistri A, Del Vecchio C, Mantelli B, Parisi SG, Palù G, et al. Combinatorial RNA interference as a gene therapy strategy for HIV-1 infection. *Retrovirology*. 2013;10(1):85-87.
- 266.Chang CI, Lee TY, Kim S, Sun X, Hong SW, Yoo JW, et al. Enhanced intracellular delivery and multi-target gene silencing triggered by tripodal RNA structures. *The Journal Of Gene Medicine*. 2012;14(2):138-46.
- 267.Boden D, Pusch O, Lee F, Tucker L, Ramratnam B. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 escape from RNA interference. *Journal of Virology*. 2003;77(21):11531-5.
- 268.Wong RS. Apoptosis in cancer: from pathogenesis to treatment. *Journal of Experimental & Clinical Cancer Research*. 2011;30(1):87-101.
- 269.Toscano M, Palumbo S, Tini P, Miracco C, Gravina GL, Comincini S. Cell death pathways, with special regard to ionizing radiation and temozolomide. *Radiobiology of Glioblastoma*: 2016:209-24.
- 270.Kukowska-Latallo JF, Candido KA, Cao Z, Nigavekar SS, Majoros IJ, Thomas TP, et al. Nanoparticle targeting of anticancer drug improves therapeutic response in animal model of human epithelial cancer. *Cancer Research*. 2005;65(12):5317-24.

- 271.Lowery AR, Gobin AM, Day ES, Halas NJ, West JL. Immunonanoshells for targeted photothermal ablation of tumor cells. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*. 2006;1(2):149-154.
- 272.Kam NWS, O'Connell M, Wisdom JA, Dai H. Carbon nanotubes as multifunctional biological transporters and near-infrared agents for selective cancer cell destruction. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 2005;102(33):11600-5.
- 273.Bellocq NC, Pun SH, Jensen GS, Davis ME. Transferrin-containing, cyclodextrin polymer-based particles for tumor-targeted gene delivery. *Bioconjugate Chemistry*. 2003;14(6):1122-32.
- 274.Betancourt T, Brown B, Brannon-Peppas L. Doxorubicin-loaded PLGA nanoparticles by nanoprecipitation: preparation, characterization and in vitro evaluation. *Nanomedicine*. 2007;2(2):219-32.
- 275.Inoue S, Ding H, Portilla-Arias J, Hu J, Konda B, Fujita M, et al. Polymalic acidbased nanobiopolymer provides efficient systemic breast cancer treatment by inhibiting both HER2/neu receptor synthesis and activity. *Cancer Research*. 2011;71(4):1454-64.